



New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection New Jersey Department of Agriculture







A MESSAGE FROM

September 19, 2024

Fellow New Jerseyans,

Ours is called the Garden State for a reason. New Jersey is the proud steward of a diverse landscape of natural and working lands, including vast forests, agricultural lands, wetlands, shorelines, and developed lands, as well as many aquatic resources and habitats. These natural and working lands are central to our State's identity and culture, and critical to our economy. Natural and working lands also play an essential role in sequestering carbon and reducing the net emissions of greenhouse gases (GHGs) that continue to fuel our changing climate. As we continue to enjoy and make productive use of our lands, this *Strategy to Advance Carbon Sequestration on New Jersey's Natural and Working Lands* will support New Jerseyans in harnessing the full potential of these natural assets in the gravely necessary work of reducing planet-warming emissions in order to secure a stable climate for our residents today and all those who follow.

Commissioner Shawn LaTourette New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection

As New Jerseyans know too well, climate change is here, it is worsening, and it represents the greatest long-term threat to our communities, economy, and way of life. Global atmospheric warming, caused largely by human activities, is leading to significant changes in climate patterns here in New Jersey, across the United States, and around the world. The adverse effects of climate change are already impacting New Jerseyans and, unfortunately, are only projected to intensify in the years ahead. With an increase of 3.5°F in the average annual temperature over the last century, New Jersey is the most rapidly warming state in the northeast. Sadly, heat–related illnesses have led to more than 10,000 emergency department visits by our residents in the last ten years. Extreme weather events have increased in frequency and intensity, leading to devastating and disruptive flooding. New Jersey is also experiencing the adverse effects of rising sea levels, which are projected to rise locally at a rate more than twice the global average, posing serious risks to coastal and inland communities, as well as our natural and working lands.

While the current impacts and future risks of climate change pose great challenges, New Jersey state government, under the leadership of Governor Phil Murphy, is hard at work positioning our residents, communities, businesses, and institutions to meet these challenges head-on. Through partnerships across the many sectors of our economy and every region of our State, New Jersey continues to modernize public policy and deploy innovative programs that will help us eliminate the climate pollutants necessary to thwart the worst impacts of climate change, while simultaneously building our communities' resilience to unavoidable climate impacts.

The Strategy to Advance Carbon Sequestration on New Jersey's Natural and Working Lands, like the Global Warming Response Act of 2006 (GWRA) that directs this important work, recognizes that carbon sequestration helps to offset the State's overall GHG emissions. Importantly, increasing our carbon sequestration will enable us to counterbalance continuing emissions from the sectors of our economy that pose the greatest challenges to achieving the drastic GHG reductions necessary. All current indications reflect that multiplying our carbon sequestration capacity is central for New Jersey to achieve its legislatively prescribed target of reducing GHG emissions by 80% by 2050.

The benefits of amplifying carbon sequestration extend far beyond securing a more livable climate for current and future generations. The strategies identified here will also improve and protect the ecology of our natural and working lands, which help provide healthy food, clean air and water, habitats for our wildlife, and recreation for our fellow residents. The work ahead is considerable and the stakes are high. And while no one person or institution can meet this moment on their own, together, we can keep New Jersey the safe, healthy, and beautiful place we love.

Onward,

Shawn M. LaTourette, Commissioner New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This report is issued with special thanks to Governor Phil Murphy and Department of Environmental Protection Commissioner Shawn M. LaTourette for their leadership in recognizing and responding to the threat of climate change, and with thanks to New Jersey Department of Agriculture Secretary of Agriculture, Edward D. Wengryn, for his contributions. Thank you for your dedication of staff in the pursuit of this important work. This report—and its role in mitigating climate change for the benefit of our state, country, and world—would not have been possible without the hard work and commitment of many people across the Executive Branch of New Jersey State Government including our expert workgroups and steering committee. We cannot achieve our 80x50 goals without investing in the natural ability of our lands to sequester carbon. This strategy coupled with other complementary strategies, such as those identified in the 80x50 report, will ensure that New Jersey can significantly reduce its emissions profile.

Primary Authors

Department of Environmental Protection

Heather Genievich Metthea Yepsen Julie Blum Lauren Siclare Frank McLaughlin Nina Colagiovanni Tony Rho

New Jersey Department of Agriculture

Rachel DeFlumeri

For inquiries or to send comments related to the Natural and Working Lands Strategy, send a message to our email: NJClimate@dep.nj.gov

Recommended citation

New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection and Department of Agriculture. 2024. A Strategy to Advance Carbon Sequestration on New Jersey's Natural and Working Lands. Trenton, NJ. 69 pages.

Other Contributors

Department of Environmental Protection

Aidan Preston Ashleigh Windawi Becky Hill David Golden* Doug Rizio Elizabeth Dragon Helaine Barr* Jessica Cobb Jessica Sponaugle

Department of Agriculture Amanda Wenczel Frank Minch* John Cecil* Josh Moody Julia Wong Kandyce Perry* Katie Hogue Katrina Angarone* Kristen Brennan Lisa Barno Megan Rutkowski

Michael Russell* Nicholas Procopio Paul Baldauf* Robin Madden* Russell Babb Sean Moriarty* Taylor Wieczerak Todd Wyckoff William Zipse

*Steering Committee Members

CONTENTS

Executive Summary
Glossary of Terms
Introduction
Climate Change and The Carbon Cycle12
Ecosystem Services and The Social Cost of Carbon15
Sequestration Basics15
Environmental Justice18
Carbon Sequestration Targets
Recommendations for Implementation
Forests
Wetlands
Aquatic Habitats
Agricultural Land
Developed Land
Works Cited61

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Climate change is an existential global crisis informed by clear scientific consensus. It is altering precipitation patterns, temperature, and rates of sea-level rise and will impact nearly all our natural resources and developed areas. A coordinated effort to decrease greenhouse gas emissions locally and globally is needed to slow the rate of global warming.

New Jersey has made great strides in reducing greenhouse gas emissions from burning fossil fuels for energy generation. From 2006 to 2020, greenhouse gas emissions dropped from 121.6 to 91.0 million metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO₂e) is a measurement of the total greenhouse gases emitted, expressed in terms of the equivalent measurement of carbon dioxide; CO₂e allows comparison of greenhouse gases with different warming potentials). Further reductions are anticipated through a commitment to increased efficiency and electrification of the transportation and building sectors.

According to recent estimates, emissions must decrease by 50% below 2006 levels by 2030, to roughly 60.6 million metric tons CO₂e per year.¹ The Global Warming Response Act states that emissions must fall further to 80% below 2006 levels by 2050, or to about 24.2 million metric tons of CO₂e. New Jersey will need to cut about 75% of current GHG emissions between today and 2050. An economy-wide transformation is necessary to meet this goal. All sectors must accept and adopt fundamental changes in energy consumption, waste production, and management of natural and working lands. Despite these significant efforts, an excess of emissions will remain. This gap must be bridged to meet these goals. That is where carbon sequestration comes in.

Natural and working lands (e.g., forests, farms, underutilized developed lands) sequester carbon, pulling carbon from the air and storing it in plants and soils long-term. What follows is a scientifically supported and fact-based strategy that sets forth concrete methods of conserving and managing these lands to increase the amount of carbon removed from the atmosphere and stored to offset greenhouse gas emissions. The land management practices in this strategy aim to maintain existing carbon stores through conservation and/or increase carbon sequestration by increasing plant cover and growth without compromising ecological function.

The natural lands that are the focus of this strategy include aquatic habitats, wetlands, and forests. Some recommendations for maximizing carbon sequestration in these lands include protecting submerged aquatic vegetation, restoring Atlantic white cedar swamps, and installing living shorelines in tidal wetlands. In forests, some specific targets are for planting acres of trees through afforestation and reforestation, along with recommendations for improving forest management. This strategy also presents goals for working lands that include agricultural land and developed land. Some of the targets in agricultural land are related to composting and planting cover crops. In developed land, the focus is mainly on creating new public open space on brownfield sites, revitalization of older parks and urban schoolyards, adding green infrastructure elements, and street tree planting.

While this strategy focuses largely on actions that can be achieved on State lands, the Department's sincere hope is that other entities, such as local governments, universities, nonprofits, private individuals, and businesses and industry partners, will heed this call to action and begin to implement thoughtful and progressive land management practices through the implementation of this strategy on their assets. The targets set in the strategy cannot be reached without adoption by other entities. If implemented collectively and collaboratively, this strategy will help New Jersey in its efforts to combat climate change by boosting carbon sequestration and offsetting greenhouse gas emissions.

New Jersey Natural and Working Lands Strategy Targets for Carbon Sequestration Actions

These targets are a combination of goals for state government and other entities. The majority of targets are totals to be achieved by 2030 and 2050; however, some targets are expressed as a yearly rate (e.g., 2,000 acres/yr). For targets

that can't be quantified or for which values are not yet available, the 2030 and 2050 values are designated as an "X." The Strategy text contains detailed descriptions of each target.

FORESTED LAND					
Recommendation Type	ID	Target	2030	2050	
Afforestation	F1	Identify & plant non-forested land to a forested condition with appropriate species	4,000 acres (200 ac/yr)		
Reforestation	F2	Prioritize sites for reforestation actions	10 sites	40 sites	
	F3	Identify & restore degraded forests across all forest ownerships	800 acres	2,000 acres	
Afforestation/Reforestation	F4	Increase nursery production to annually service more municipalities & private landowners	20% increase		
Avoided Conversion	F5	Minimize conversion of forested lands to non- forest uses	Maintain at 4,000 acres/yr	Reduce to 2,000 acres/yr	
	F6	Enroll forest land into a carbon market 75,000 acres/yr 1		100,000 acres	
Improved Forest Management	F7	Plan ecological forest management	100,000 acres	200,000 acres	
	F8	Provide cost share to properties for improved forest management	100 properties/year	500 properties/year	
	F9	Private landowner enrollment in forest stewardship program and Farmland Assessment programs	115 properties/ year	All properties enrolled	
WETLANDS					
Recommendation Type	ID	Target	2030	2050	
	WL1	Complete tidal reconnection projects	1 site/yr	2 sites/yr	
Restoration	WL2	Increase cover of salt marsh vegetation	70 acres/yr	200 acres/yr	
	WL3	Restore Atlantic White Cedar Swamps	10,000 acres	20,000 acres	
	WL4	Install X linear feet of living shorelines	7,800 ft/yr	10,000 ft/yr	
Wetland Protection	WL5	Minimize disturbance of wetland soils	Reduce by 10%	Reduce by 30%	
	WL6	Protect tidal wetland migration zones	Х	20% of migration zones	
AQUATIC HABITATS					
Recommendation Type	ID	Target	2030	2050	
Monitoring	AQ1	Assess SAV density and health with ongoing monitoring	Х	Х	
Conservation	AQ2	Protect existing SAV from further loss	Limit to 10% loss	No net loss	
Restoration	AQ3	Restore X acres per year (to be quantified after baseline is updated via monitoring)	Within 5 years	Expand program	
AGRICULTURAL LAND					
Recommendation Type	ID	Target	20	30 2050	
	AG1	Apply compost to cropland harvested	4,150 acres/yr	12,700 acres/yr	
Compost	AG2	Apply compost to cropland pastured	750 acres/yr	1,950 acres/yr	
	AG3	Apply compost to permanent pasture	2,400 acres/yr	6,500 acres/yr	
Cover Crops	AG4	Plant cropland harvested and cropland pastured with cover crops	9,850 acres	40,300 acres	

2024 NEW JERSEY NATURAL AND WORKING LANDS STRATEGY

DEVELOPED LAND							
Recommendation Type	ID	Target	2030	2050			
Afforestation	DL1	Plant street trees/shade trees	250,000 trees	1,000,000 trees			
Promote Urban Forest & Street Tree Stewardship	DL2	Enroll all municipalities that are eligible in Urban Stewardship programs	Х	Х			
Brownfield Redevelopment to Create Parks	DL3	Redevelop brownfield sites to create new green space	20 sites (100 acres)	200 sites (1000 acres)			
Revitalize Older Parks & Urban Schoolyards	DL4	Enhance public parks in urban areas and improve urban schoolyards	20 sites (50 acres)	(100 sites) 250 acres			
Enhancement	DL5	Improve soils through remediation and capping	500 acres	5000 acres			



GLOSSARY OF TERMS

For consistency, many of these definitions are borrowed verbatim from the cited sources. Please refer to the reference section at the end of this document for complete citations.

Afforestation: The process of establishing trees on land that has lacked forest cover for a very long time or land that has never been forested.²

Avoided conversion: a defense strategy that aims to prevent forest conversion to non-forest land use. Avoided conversion strategies are appropriate for forested lands at risk of being developed or converted from a forested to a non-forested condition.²

• Silvicultural management such as regeneration cuts (clearcuts, shelterwoods, seed trees, patch cuts) are not considered forest conversion as these cuts aim to regenerate forested land.

Avoided emission: methods or procedures that reduce the risk of emission from forest carbon pools.²

Blue Carbon: carbon captured by the world's ocean and coastal ecosystems.³

Brownfield: any former or current commercial or industrial site that is currently vacant or underutilized and on which there has been, or there is suspect to have been, a discharge of a contaminant.⁴

Carbon markets: are trading systems in which carbon credits are sold and bought. One tradable carbon credit is equal to one ton of carbon dioxide or the equivalent amount of a different greenhouse gas reduced, sequestered, or avoided.

- There are two different types of carbon offset projects:
 - Captured-based projects are the traditional carbon offset, where the volume of carbon stored over a set time frame is measured and sold.
 - A practice-based project pays landowners of all sizes to conduct forest management practices known to sequester carbon. This can involve invasive species management to support the regeneration of native tree species or managing forests to grow to a larger size. These programs also allow for some timber harvesting within certain guidelines (e.g., they are sustainable, or forests are not high-graded).⁵

Carbon sequestration: is the uptake and storage of carbon. Trees and plants, for example, absorb carbon dioxide from the air and water as part of photosynthesis. The carbon is sequestered in biomass, soils, and geological formations.

Contaminated Sites: are those sites and properties where soil or groundwater contamination has been confirmed at levels equal to or greater than applicable standards.

Damage Causing Agent: With respect to forested areas, Damage Causing Agents (DCAs) are those that cause the decline and mortality of vegetation. The NJ Forest Service recognizes DCAs as either native or exotic and biotic (insects, disease, deer, invasive plants) or abiotic (climate change, wildfire, sea level rise, storms).²

Ecological forestry: is an approach to forest management that emphasizes and considers ecological processes and functions.²

Ecosystem function: The major ecosystem processes that regulate or influence the structure, composition, and pattern of the ecosystem. These include nutrient cycles, energy flows, trophic levels (food chains), diversity patterns in time/space development and evolution, cybernetics (control), hydrologic cycles, and weathering processes. (NJ State Forest Action Plan)

Enhancement: a change in the physical, chemical, and/or biological characteristics of a natural resource to heighten, intensify, or improve a specific function(s). Enhancement results in the gain of selected natural resource function(s) but also may lead to a decline in other function(s).⁶

Environmental Justice: the fair treatment and meaningful involvement of all people regardless of race, color, national origin, or income with respect to the development, implementation, and enforcement of environmental laws, regulations, and policies.⁷

Farmland Assessment Program: The Farmland Assessment Act of 1964 was amended in 1986, requiring some woodland owners to develop and implement a state-approved forest management plan to qualify for reduced property taxation. Under the amended act, woodland owners must fulfill special requirements concerning property used exclusively for the production and sale of forest products, excluding Christmas trees. Some woodland owners are eligible for reduced property taxes if they follow a state-approved forestry plan.⁸

Fire-dependent systems: Forests, grasslands, and other ecosystems historically composed of species of plants that evolved with and are maintained by fire regimes.²

Forest conversion: Conversion of forested land to a permanent non-forest condition.⁹

Forest health: Defined by the production of forest conditions that directly satisfy human needs and by resilience, recurrence, persistence, and biophysical processes that lead to sustainable ecological conditions.¹⁰

Forest Inventory and Analysis (FIA): A program of the US Forest Service, FIA reports on the status and trends in forest area and location; in the species, size, and health of trees; in total tree growth, mortality, and removals by harvest; in wood production and utilization rates by various products; and in forest land ownership.

• New Jersey has FIA data dating back to the 1980s. Currently, it receives data at 2x intensification (meaning that the entire state is re-inventoried on a 5-year cycle, with one plot per every 3,000 acres).¹¹

Forest land: Land that has at least 10 percent crown cover by live tally trees of any size or has had at least 10 percent canopy cover of live tally species in the past, based on the presence of stumps, snags, or other evidence. To qualify, the area must be at least 1.0 acre in size and 120.0 feet wide. Forest land includes transition zones, such as areas between forest and nonforest lands that meet the minimal tree stocking/cover and forest areas adjacent to urban and built-up lands. Roadside, streamside, and shelterbelt strips of trees must have a width of at least 120 feet and a continuous length of at least 363 feet to qualify as forest land. Unimproved roads and trails, streams, and clearings in forest areas are classified as forest if they are less than 120 feet wide or less than an acre in size. Tree-covered areas in agricultural production settings, such as fruit orchards, or tree-covered areas in urban settings, such as city parks, are not considered forest land.²

Forest restoration: A broad strategy that involves repairing forest ecosystem function, which allows forests to grow and sequester carbon in places where a forest's ability to sequester efficiently or to transfer carbon between pools has been compromised.²

Fragmentation (habitat): The break-up of a large continuous land area by reducing and dividing into smaller patches isolated by areas converted to a different land type. Habitat can be fragmented by natural events or development activities.²

Fragmentation (forest): The breakup of a large land forest area into smaller patches isolated by areas converted to a different land type; it is the opposite of connectivity.²

Greenhouse gas (GHG): is any gaseous compound (such as carbon dioxide or methane) that absorbs infrared radiation, traps heat in the atmosphere, and contributes to the greenhouse effect.¹²

Improved forest management: For the purpose of this strategy, improved forest management refers to forest management practices that result in increased carbon stocks within forests and methods that reduce greenhouse gas emissions from forestry activities.¹³ It also refers to actions that help increase data accuracy and abundance, ensure contracts and plans are well-written and efficient in scope, and carry out planned management.¹³

Inventory (forest): A survey of a forest area to determine data such as area, condition, timber, volume, and species for a specific purpose, such as planning, purchasing, evaluating, managing, or harvesting.²

Leakage: refers to the leakage of methane or other gases during drilling and storage and during transfers through pipelines. Leakage also can refer to the situation in which a carbon sequestration activity (e.g., tree planting or avoided deforestation) on one piece of land inadvertently, directly or indirectly, triggers an activity, which in whole or in part counteracts the carbon effects of the initial activity.²

Logging: In the forestry profession, the basic principle behind the term "logging" is that it can generally be used synonymously with "harvesting." The implication in this context is that trees are removed for harvest, rather than simply being cut.^{14,15}

Mesophication: the process that occurs when fire is removed from a fire-dependent forest such as an Oak Savanna. Removing fire causes these forests to shift from open, sun-loving, fire-tolerant forests to closed, shade-tolerant, firesensitive forests.

Mitigation: compensating for impacts resulting from regulated actions or injury to resources such as fish, wildlife, plants, and their habitats.⁶

Overburdened Community (OBC): is a census block group with: (1) at least 35 percent low-income households, (2) at least 40 percent of the residents identify as minority or as members of a State recognized tribal community, or (3) at least 40 percent of the households have limited English proficiency.¹⁶

Prescribed burn: the skillful application of fire under exacting conditions of weather and fuel in a predetermined area, for a specific purpose, such as limiting the spread and intensity of wildfire to protect stored forest carbon, to achieve specific results. While the principal reason for prescribed burning in New Jersey is wildfire hazard reduction, it also has numerous secondary benefits, including wildlife habitat management, site management for forestry activities, ecological plant and animal management, forest disease and pest control, nutrient recycling, grassland management, improved accessibility, and enhanced appearance.¹⁷

Reforestation: the reestablishment of forest cover either naturally or artificially.²

Regeneration: Seedlings or saplings existing in a stand or the act of renewing tree cover by establishing young trees naturally or artificially.²

Restoration: the process of re-establishing a self-sustaining habitat that closely resembles its natural structure and function.¹⁸

Shellfish Habitat: an estuarine bay or river bottom which currently supports or has a history of production for hard clams (*Mercenaria mercenaria*), soft clams (*Mya arenaria*), eastern oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*), bay scallops (*Argopecten irradians*), or blue mussels (*Mytilus edulis*).¹⁹

Silviculture: the art and science of controlling the establishment, growth, composition, health, and quality of forests and woodlands to meet the diverse needs and values of landowners and society, such as wildlife habitat, timber, water resources, restoration, and recreation on a sustainable basis.²⁰

Soil Amendments: any material added to a soil to improve its physical properties, such as water retention, permeability, water infiltration, drainage, aeration, and structure.²¹

Storm Water Green infrastructure: the range of measures that use plant or soil systems, permeable pavement or other permeable surfaces or substrates, stormwater harvest and reuse, or landscaping to store, infiltrate, or evapotranspirate stormwater and reduce flows to sewer systems or to surface waters (2019 Water Infrastructure Improvement Act P.L. 115-436-Jan. 14, 2019).

Submerged Aquatic Vegetation (SAV): rooted, aquatic plants that grow entirely underwater. These plants occur in both freshwater and saltwater, as well as estuaries, where fresh and saltwater mix together.²²

Thinning: The cutting and/or harvesting of living trees to scientifically determined lower targeted densities, where a majority of the forest growth during this planning cycle in treated areas will come from existing living trees retained within the forest rather than from the establishment of new trees (regeneration).²

Urban & Community Forestry: The New Jersey Urban & Community Forestry Program (NJUCF) is where biotic and abiotic resources connect to increase the function of our urban, human-occupied ecosystems. Authorized by the New Jersey Shade Tree and Community Forestry Assistance Act,²³ this unique program works to encourage, promote, and support the local stewardship and effective management of trees and forest ecosystems in New Jersey's communities through technical assistance and financial assistance.²⁴

Woodland Stewardship Program: The New Jersey Woodland Stewards Program (NJ WSP) is an educational program of Rutgers Cooperative Extension, the New Jersey Forest Stewardship Program, State Forestry Services, and the New Jersey Forestry Association. The program is intended to encourage the management of private forestland for non-commodity benefits, such as wildlife, recreation, aesthetics, and water quality, as well as traditional commodities like timber and wood products. Forest Stewardship promotes long-term active management while emphasizing consideration of all the forest resources and benefits.²⁵

INTRODUCTION

Climate change is a global phenomenon that requires global action to limit the impacts of a warming earth. Business as usual is no longer an option. New Jersey is pursuing aggressive goals to limit its greenhouse gas emissions but increases in electrification and rapid expansion of clean energy capacity alone won't be enough to meet our goals. Contributions from natural and working lands to remove and store carbon will be needed to meet New Jersey's climate goals.

The natural and working lands discussed in this Strategy include agricultural land, aquatic habitats, developed land, forests, and wetlands. These lands can sequester or remove carbon dioxide from the atmosphere through long-term accumulation in plants and soils. In New Jersey and elsewhere, ongoing development continues to result in the loss of agricultural lands, wetlands, and forests, leading to higher annual emissions. Despite these losses, New Jersey's land sector sequestered an estimated 8 percent of the State's net carbon emissions in 2018.²⁶

By designing and implementing an effective Natural and Working Lands Strategy, New Jersey can maximize carbon sequestration in its natural and working lands.

Climate Change and the Carbon Cycle

Climate change is largely attributed to global atmospheric warming, which is primarily caused by human activities that increase concentrations of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases in the atmosphere. Carbon that was previously bound up in fossil fuels for millennia is being released into the atmosphere at an accelerating rate, as evidenced by atmospheric carbon dioxide data collected at NOAA's Mauna Loa Observatory (Figure 1).

Figure 1. The recent history of atmospheric carbon dioxide from Mauna Loa observations back to 1958 and ice core data beginning in 900. A substantial increase in atmospheric carbon dioxide is apparent around the time the Industrial Revolution began in the late 1800s. Atmospheric carbon isotope composition measured as δ 13C declines at the same time, consistent with the composition of fossil fuel emissions.²⁷



2024 NEW JERSEY NATURAL AND WORKING LANDS STRATEGY

Combating climate change is no small task; it requires a many-pronged approach with coordinated efforts from all sectors. New Jersey is working on several paths to reduce its emissions of greenhouse gases to fight climate change. In 2007, New Jersey passed the Global Warming Response Act, which set targets for reducing carbon emissions. New Jersey has since exceeded its 2020 reduction goal but will need to make more significant reductions to meet its 2050 goal.

The trajectory of GHG emissions in New Jersey has decreased since 2005 (Figure 2). The 2020 goal to reduce emissions to 1990 levels or below was successfully met, but more significant changes are needed to reduce emissions to a total of 60.6 million metric tons by 2030, a 50% reduction of 2006 levels based on recent estimates, as called for in E.O. 274.²⁸ Ultimately, emissions must fall further to a total of 24.2 million metric tons CO2e by 2050, an 80% percent reduction from 2006 levels, to be in accordance with the Global Warming Response Act. Meeting the 2050 goal will require a 73% reduction in net emissions based on present-day (2020) measured emissions. An economy-wide transformation is needed to meet this goal. All sectors must accept and adopt fundamental changes in how energy is consumed, waste is produced and disposed of, and how natural and working lands are managed.

Even with a complete shift to clean energy, this level of emission reduction will not be attainable without an additional decrease of 6.0 to 10.8 million metric tons of CO₂e per year due to carbon sequestration (Figure 3).



Figure 2. New Jersey GHG Emission Reduction Targets. The blue dots represent actual measured emissions and the black dots represent goals set forth in the 80x50 report.²

In 2020, the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP) released the 80x50 report, which serves as the State's climate action plan²⁶. The report identified pathways to achieving the 80x50 reduction goal. These pathways include electrifying all vehicles in New Jersey, as well as home and water heating and replacing fossil fuel electricity generation with green energy. These measures will help the state approach its GHG reduction goals, but additional carbon sequestration will be needed to offset the gross emissions. The Natural and Working Lands Strategy presents opportunities for increasing sequestration.

2024 NEW JERSEY NATURAL AND WORKING LANDS STRATEGY

While New Jersey is embarking on its first Natural and Working Lands Strategy, it is not alone in this effort. In recent years, several states have begun similar efforts to leverage carbon sequestration through natural processes. As of May 2023, natural and working lands were included in the greenhouse gas inventories for 15 states. Currently, 11 states have conservation or sequestration goals for natural and working lands. There are also 11 states with healthy soils legislation that encourage regenerative agricultural practices.²⁹

Beyond our nation's borders, the US Climate Alliance is working with Canada and Mexico to reduce GHG emissions and work toward a common goal of 50% of power generation from zero-carbon sources by 2025 collectively across North America. Through a Joint Statement on North American Climate Leadership, Canada and Mexico joined the U.S. in committing to managing natural and working lands to be a net sink of carbon and to protect and increase carbon storage capacity.³⁰ Overseas, the European Union revised its land use regulations in 2023 to specify how natural and working lands can contribute to EU climate and carbon removal goals.³¹ The EU also included natural resources in its Net Zero Strategy.³²





Currently, New Jersey sequesters about 8 MMT CO₂e in natural and working lands. This is likely an underestimate because it does not include wetland sequestration. By 2050, the carbon that is already sequestered in plants and soils needs to be maintained plus an increase the rate of sequestration to around 10 MMT CO2e per year. Preliminary calculations by the US Climate Alliance³³, used in the Global Warming Response Act 80x50 Report²⁶, estimate that New Jersey could sequester and store an additional 2 to 3 million metric tons of carbon dioxide by actively managing, enhancing, and protecting natural and working lands.²⁶ With the implementation of this Natural and Working Lands Strategy (NWLS), New Jersey will make incremental progress toward its goal of reducing 10.8 million metric tons of CO₂e through carbon sequestration. The NWLS identifies a list of land management practices that sequester and store carbon and are considered by subject matter experts to be reliable management practices. Through policy changes and adopting these land management practices, it is possible to optimize the amount of carbon stored in natural and working lands.

Ecosystem Services and the Social Cost of Carbon

Resource managers consider the economic value of ecosystem services when making management decisions. The National Wildlife Federation defines ecosystem services as "any positive benefit that wildlife or ecosystems provide to people."³⁴ Carbon sequestration is just one of many ecosystem services provided by the land types discussed in this strategy. Some ecosystem services include provisioning services, such as food or products. Other ecosystem services are regulating services, such as plants that clean air and filter water or tree roots that anchor soil and prevent erosion. There are also cultural services, like recreation and creativity, that are spurred by interactions with nature. Lastly, supporting services provide the fundamental foundation for ecosystems and include photosynthesis and nutrient cycling.

This Strategy recognizes the importance of terrestrial and aquatic plants in sequestering carbon. New Jersey can increase the rate of this natural process by consciously managing public and private lands to protect existing carbon stores and by adopting policies that facilitate ongoing sequestration. This can be accomplished by promoting practices that enable green growth and minimize carbon loss on public and private lands. The health of natural ecosystems should not be jeopardized for the sake of increasing carbon sequestration. The strategy focuses on management activities that are both good for carbon sequestration and for ecosystem health.

In natural lands, healthy functioning habitats provide many ecosystem services and sequester more carbon than they release. Working lands, on the other hand, provide less carbon sequestration potential than natural lands. However, there are opportunities for improvement. Whether by planting more trees in developed areas or rotating grazing paddocks for livestock, this Strategy presents several ways to increase sequestration on working lands.

All of the recommended land management practices and policy changes in this report are intended to protect New Jersey's existing carbon storage and/or increase sequestration, most often by facilitating vegetation growth, without compromising ecological function. From submerged aquatic vegetation such as eelgrass, to row hedges in agricultural fields, to hardwood trees in centuries-old forests - protecting these resources and increasing their abundance will increase carbon sequestration and fight climate change. The targets that were selected for this Strategy are expected to sequester additional carbon and/or protect sequestered carbon while maintaining or improving ecosystem health.

Achieving the full list of targets in this strategy will result in significant costs. The social cost of carbon (SCC) is a useful measure for assessing whether they are worth pursuing. SCC is an estimate of the economic impact of carbon dioxide on society. It represents the long-term monetary value of the damage caused by each additional ton of carbon dioxide emitted into the atmosphere. When fossil fuels like coal, oil, and gas are burned, carbon dioxide is released into the atmosphere. This contributes to global warming and climate change, leading to a multitude of negative impacts on society. These include extreme weather events like hurricanes and droughts, rising sea levels that threaten coastal communities, disruptions in agriculture and food supply, health issues due to heat stress and air pollution, and economic losses from damage to infrastructure and property. The SCC aims to quantify the monetary value of these damages. When carbon is sequestered through natural climate solutions, these negative impacts on society are reduced and therefore the social cost of carbon is reduced. The concept of SCC helps policymakers and businesses understand the costs associated with climate change and aids in decision-making regarding emissions reduction strategies and climate policies. Using the most recent estimates of Social Cost of Carbon developed by the EPA, sequestering 10 million metric tons of CO2 in 2050 will provide between 2.4 and 5.6 billion dollars of social benefits. The per ton value of SCC increases over time, so the annual benefits of sequestering will also increase beyond 2050.³⁵

Sequestration Basics

Vegetation provides a solution to rising levels of atmospheric carbon dioxide through natural processes. Plants are primary producers that pull carbon dioxide from the air and use it for photosynthesis, then store the carbon in plant material. The stored carbon will later be incorporated into the soil through root secretions, by organisms that feed on plants, and via the dead plant material (Figure 4).

The process of sequestering carbon from the atmosphere into plant material is universal, whether in wetland plants such as Spartina and Phragmites or in hardwood trees such as white oak (Quercus alba) and red maple (Acer rubrum). While this process is common among plants and trees, there are differences in the rate of sequestration and the quantity of carbon stored in plants and soils. Some of the carbon that is stored in plant materials and soil gets re-released into the atmosphere through microbial respiration as greenhouse warming gases (e.g., carbon dioxide, methane, and nitrous oxide). The types of plants and soil characteristics impact how much plant growth occurs annually and the rate of sequestration.

Disturbances to natural and working lands like fires, ditching, and tilling can result in the release of carbon. To improve carbon sequestration, it is important to minimize anthropogenic disturbance, maintain plant cover, and improve overall ecosystem health.

Forests

The 5 forest carbon pools recognized in New Jersey

Figure 4. Plants and the carbon cycle.³⁶



include aboveground live, belowground live, litter, dead wood, and soil. These pools currently store about 141 million metric tons of carbon in New Jersey, and they sequester more and more every year.³⁷ Protecting and adding to these carbon pools are a primary objective of the forest section of this strategy.

In the terrestrial environment, trees have significant carbon sequestration advantages over other plants, including longer lifespans, larger aboveground biomass, and more extensive root systems. To this end, forest conservation and management can increase above ground carbon storage by accelerating the growth rates and survival of trees, while enhancing below ground carbon storage through the conservation of older forest age classes and management that increases woody debris.³⁸

Forested land can become net sources of carbon when they are converted to a non-forested land use (e.g., warehouses) and as a result of catastrophic fires or pest outbreaks that kill large percentages of trees.^{39,40}

Wetlands

Wetlands are one of the most productive habitats on the planet.⁴¹ Like other ecosystems, wetland vegetation pulls carbon dioxide out of the air, uses it in photosynthesis, and then sequesters it in plant materials and soils.

Wetlands also have a special power to store carbon because of the presence of water levels at or near the soil surface. The water decreases oxygen availability, which slows down the decomposition rates of dead organic matter in the soil.^{42,43} As a result of the decreased decomposition, wetlands can develop deep deposits of carbon-rich soils called peat that accrue over thousands of years.^{44,45}

As with all other habitat types, the carbon sequestration benefit of wetlands is offset by warming greenhouse gasses that are released into the atmosphere from soils as part of microbial respiration and decomposition. However, unlike other habitats, the low oxygen conditions in wetlands that help sequester carbon can also lead to the release of methane. When oxygen is available, microbes use it during the decomposition of organic matter and produce CO2. In the absence of oxygen, microbes use other compounds for respiration including NO3-, Mn4+, Fe3+, SO42-, and CO2, depending on bioavailability and with decreasing preference from NO3- to CO2. In salt marshes, SO42- tends to be higher in abundance and when used, the byproducts of HS- and CO2 are produced. However, in brackish and

2024 NEW JERSEY NATURAL AND WORKING LANDS STRATEGY

freshwater wetlands, CO2 is more abundant than O2 or SO42-, resulting in methanogenesis or the production of CH4 (methane). Methane is a very powerful greenhouse gas, 25 to 83 times as potent as carbon dioxide.⁴⁶ Methane release from salt and brackish marshes is currently thought to be low enough that both protection and restoration provide a net carbon sequestration benefit as well as providing enhanced coastal resilience. In brackish and freshwater wetlands (including freshwater tidal wetlands and inland wetlands such as tidal freshwater marshes, red maple swamps, calciferous fens, etc.), the methane release is highly variable and, in some cases, high enough that restoration of freshwater wetlands may lead to net emissions of warming greenhouse gasses rather than net sequestration.^{47–49} As a result, the protection of carbon-rich soils in freshwater wetlands is included in the Strategy, but restoration and enhancement are not (except for Atlantic White Cedar Swamps). Research is needed to determine what types of wetlands would have a net sequestration benefit.

Net carbon sequestration in wetlands is reduced when carbon rich soils are eroded, when marsh plants drown and stop sequestering carbon, and when salinities are artificially lowered by dykes or other tide blocking structures.

Aquatic Habitats

In estuarine waters, oysters and other shellfish have the potential to provide carbon storage. They build their shells by filtering calcium and carbonate (CaCO3) from the water. Carbonate is formed when carbon dioxide dissolves in the ocean and reacts with water. Therefore, much like plants, shellfish are pulling carbon from the environment and storing it in their shells. While shellfish may help to protect carbon that is stored in sediment and sequester it in their shells, the net carbon fluxes from shellfish vary widely based on age and environmental context. Recent research has yielded conflicting results, with one source describing low levels of net oceanic carbon sequestration from shellfish⁵⁰, and another source suggesting that shellfish are sources of carbon rather than sinks due to the processes of calcification and respiration.⁵¹ More research is needed for a better understanding of the net GHG effect of shellfish.⁵²

Submerged aquatic vegetation (SAV) sequester carbon in plant tissue and ultimately stores it in submerged sediment, which the SAV in turn preserves by preventing erosion from wave action. While the current extent of carbon storage in NJ seagrass species is not well known, seagrasses throughout the world in tropical and temperate regions are being studied for their carbon sequestration potential.⁵³ In recent decades, seagrass habitat in New Jersey has been declining in size and density due to threats such as waterfront development projects (e.g., dredging); damage from boat propellers; coastal eutrophication leading to harmful algal blooms (HABs), storms, floods, disease, and poor water quality; and sea level rise.

Given the uncertainty surrounding shellfish carbon flux, recommendations for land management practices in the aquatic environment focus on SAV species.

Agricultural Lands

Agricultural lands are like natural habitats in that they have high plant productivity, which means high rates of initial carbon capture by plants. They differ from natural habitats in that plants are generally harvested each year and many conventional soil management practices decrease storage. For example, by breaking up the soil, tilling prepares land for new crops and helps control weeds, but also releases a lot of stored carbon. Minimizing soil disturbance and maintaining healthy soil characteristics are some of the practices that can facilitate sequestration. Two of these methods include diversified cropping rotations and utilization of livestock manure for plant fertility. Reducing tillage and relying on cover cropping with effective crop residue management can aid in sequestration.⁵⁴

Developed Lands

Urban settings are typically characterized by compacted soils and impervious surfaces. Increasing vegetation and soil improvements will increase carbon sequestration in developed areas. Urban forests are located within cities and towns, and some examples include urban parks, street trees, and greenways. In New Jersey, urban forests already have 178.7 million trees, which store about 27 million metric tons of carbon.⁵⁵

Environmental Justice

The state government in New Jersey is operated by the people and for the people, and that includes all the people. Historically, New Jersey's low-income communities and communities of color have borne the brunt of environmental burdens by being exposed to a disproportionately high amount of environmental and public health stressors. These same communities also suffer disproportionate climate-related impacts, including heat waves, poor air quality, flooding, and other impacts.⁵⁶ Further, these communities lack resources and capacity and are therefore also the least prepared for and the least able to recover from these deleterious climate change impacts.

In this document, we will use the terms overburdened communities (OBCs) and environmental justice (EJ) communities. NJDEP regulations identify OBCs as block groups with at least 35% low-income households, or at least 40% of the residents identify as minority, or at least 40% of the households have limited English proficiency. EJ communities are OBCs that are subject to adverse cumulative environmental and public health stressors as compared to other areas of the state.

Many EJ communities are already experiencing disproportionate impacts to their environment and public health, with the most serious impacts of climate change, including increased air temperatures, worsening air quality, more frequent stormwater flooding, and rising vulnerability to tidal flooding serving as a threat multiplier to individuals residing in our most vulnerable communities. Using an environmental justice lens, these communities should be prioritized to receive attention and funding for climate improvement projects, which also often have the benefit of sequestering carbon as described above. Because the climate threat to EJ communities is higher, the benefit of any climate threat reduction is also greater in EJ communities. Improvements here will not only address the adverse health stressors that these communities disproportionately bear but they are also likely to increase carbon sequestration. EJ communities are also likely to see the greatest economic development and community revitalization gains per investment in climate-related projects, as current environmental stressors often discourage or limit investment in these areas.

While there may be concerns regarding gentrification and maintenance of trees and other improvements, thoughtful planning and support can lessen these concerns. Ultimately, by implementing this Strategy, the State can increase urban tree canopy cover, better identify, and remediate more brownfield sites, create more open space opportunities, install stormwater green infrastructure elements, and enhance urban green spaces— especially older parks and schoolyards. These actions will begin to address adverse health stressors by alleviating heat island effects, improving air quality, mitigating flooding, and preventing water pollution.

Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI) and Overburdened Communities

The Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (<u>RGGI</u>) is a cooperative, market-based effort among several northeastern states to cap and reduce carbon dioxide emissions from the electric generating power sector. It represents the first cap-and-invest regional initiative implemented in the United States. NJDEP allocates 10% of the State's RGGI auction proceeds

towards investment in carbon sequestration projects in New Jersey (P.L. 2008, c. 340). NJDEP relies on the <u>Strategic Funding Plan</u> to direct RGGI investments into projects and programs that reduce greenhouse gas emissions and help the state progress towards its climate, clean energy, and equity goals.⁵⁷ The RGGI Strategic Funding Plan is updated every three years. It has allocated funding for two initiatives that protect and enhance the state's natural carbon sinks: Promote Blue Carbon in Coastal Habitats and Enhance Forests and Urban Forests. In addition, RGGI funds are prioritized to aid overburdened communities (OBC) as one of the key goals identified towards climate mitigation and decarbonization.

NJDEP has dedicated over \$17 million in auction proceeds to five blue carbon sequestration projects that create living shorelines and restore tidal salt marsh vegetation through the <u>Natural Climate Solutions Grant</u> <u>Program</u> (NCS) (Figure 5).⁵⁸ 33% of these funds were awarded to projects located in overburdened communities. Through this program the NJDEP has also dedicated over \$6 million to two forest restoration and seven urban tree planting and forest canopy enhancement projects through the Natural Climate Solutions Grant Program. 86% of these funds were awarded to projects located in overburdened communities. The map on the right shows the projects selected for funding in the first round of the NCS program.



Additionally, the NJDEP has also launched the <u>Trees for Schools grant program</u> in the Spring of 2023, which commits \$2.5 million in auction proceeds to fund tree plantings on school campuses, with priority given to schools in New Jersey's overburdened communities.⁵⁹

CARBON SEQUESTRATION TARGETS

To build this strategy, NJDEP worked to locate any plans or reports that identified carbon sequestration strategies in natural and working lands. This included a broad review of state, federal, and international plans developed by jurisdictions outside of New Jersey. A list of actions that would be applicable in New Jersey was curated from these documents. The targets and recommended policy changes in this document build upon that list with additional suggestions from NJDEP and the New Jersey Department of Agriculture (NJDA).

As part of the target development process, NJDEP held four stakeholder meetings in March 2023 to receive input on a draft list of targets posted on the NJDEP website. The meetings had approximately 775 attendees, with affiliations ranging from private citizens to universities, conservation organizations, government agencies, and industry. All comments received during the meetings, via emails, and online submissions were reviewed and considered while developing this strategy.

The primary focus of this strategy is actions that will sequester carbon or protect existing carbon stocks in our natural and working lands without compromising ecosystem health. Subject experts from NJDEP and NJDA developed

recommendations for land management practices and policy changes based primarily on published scientific literature. All practices recommended in this Strategy are widely implementable in New Jersey and have documented net carbon sequestration benefits in scientific publications or from NJDEP's data collection and analysis.

In Table 1 there are recommended land management practices with targets to achieve set quantities of specific actions by 2030 and by 2050. The years 2030 and 2050 were chosen to align the Strategy with the state's climate goals.²⁶ For example, one target in the forest section sets a goal to afforest, or plant to a forested condition, 200 acres per year through 2030. Many land management recommendations include adding biomass that will pull carbon from the atmosphere, store it in plant material, and transfer that carbon to the soil for long-term storage. Other recommendations are for practices that keep carbon in the soil more effectively, such as the agricultural targets to plant cropland with cover crops.

New Jersey Natural and Working Lands Strategy Targets for Carbon Sequestration Actions

These targets are a combination of goals for state government and other entities. The majority of targets are totals to be achieved by 2030 and 2050, however some targets are expressed as a yearly rate (e.g., 2,000 acres/yr). For targets that either can't be quantified or for which values are not yet available, the 2030 and 2050 values are designated as an "X". The text of the Strategy contains detailed descriptions of each target.

Recommended land management activities include conservation targets to protect existing carbon stores and monitoring targets to improve New Jersey's carbon storage inventory. Some targets specify enhancement actions, such as amending soils in developed areas, and others describe restoration activities, such as restoring Atlantic White Cedar swamps.

The policy recommendations in this strategy fall into several broad categories, which are intended to either protect stored carbon or help increase the implementation of land management activities that sequester carbon. Guidance recommendations are aimed at developing best management practices and other technical support methods that will help ensure the success of projects. Outreach and education recommendations serve to engage the public by increasing awareness of the benefits of specific practices for carbon sequestration. Planning targets are recommendations for NJDEP to make decisions that will add to the total amount of carbon stored in New Jersey's lands. Funding recommendations propose the development of incentives to encourage a change in behavior by private landowners. Recommendations also identify areas where regulations can be strengthened to protect natural and working lands.

FORESTED LAND							
Recommendation Type	ID	Target	2030	2050			
Afforestation	Fl	Identify & plant non-forested land to a forested condition with appropriate species	1,600 acres (200 ac/yr)	4,000 acres (200 ac/yr)			
Reforestation	F2	Prioritize sites for reforestation actions	10 sites	40 sites			
	F3	Identify & restore degraded forests across all forest ownerships	800 acres	2,000 acres			
Afforestation/Reforestation	F4	Increase nursery production to annually service more municipalities & private landowners	20% increase	20% increase			
Avoided Conversion	F5	Minimize conversion of forested lands to non- forest uses	Maintain at	Reduce to 2,000 acres/yr			
	F6	Enroll forest land into a carbon market	4,000 acres/yr	100,000 acres			
Improved Forest Management	F7	Plan ecological forest management	75,000 acres	200,000 acres			
	F8	Provide cost share to properties for improved forest management	100,000 acres	500 properties/year			
	F9	Private landowner enrollment in forest stewardship program and Farmland Assessment programs	100 properties/ year	All properties enrolled			

2024 NEW JERSEY NATURAL AND WORKING LANDS STRATEGY

WETLANDS				
Recommendation Type	ID	Target	2030	2050
	WL1	Complete tidal reconnection projects	1 site/yr	2 sites/yr
Restoration	WL2	Increase cover of salt marsh vegetation	70 acres/yr	200 acres/yr
	WL3	Restore Atlantic White Cedar Swamps 10,000 acres		20,000 acres
	WL4	Install X linear feet of living shorelines	7,800 ft/yr	10,000 ft/yr
Wetland Protection	WL5	Minimize disturbance of wetland soils	Reduce by 10%	Reduce by 30%
	WL6	Protect tidal wetland migration zones	Х	20% of marsh migration zones
AQUATIC HABITATS				
Recommendation Type	ID	Target	2030	2050
Monitoring	AQ1	Assess SAV density and health with ongoing monitoring	Х	Х
Conservation	AQ2	Protect existing SAV from further loss	Limit to 10% loss	No net loss
Restoration	AQ3	Restore X acres per year (to be quantified after baseline is updated via monitoring)	Within 5 years	Expand program
AGRICULTURAL LAND				
Recommendation Type	ID	Target	2030	2050
	AG1	Apply compost to cropland harvested	4,150 acres/yr	12,700 acres/yr
Compost	AG2	Apply compost to cropland pastured	750 acres/yr	1,950 acres/yr
	AG3	Apply compost to permanent pasture	2,400 acres/yr	6,500 acres/yr
Cover Crops	AG4	Plant cropland harvested and cropland pastured with cover crops	9,850 acres	40,300 acres
DEVELOPED LAND				
Recommendation Type	ID	Target	2030	2050
Afforestation	DL1	Plant street trees/shade trees	250,000 trees	1,000,000 trees
Promote Urban Forest & Street Tree Stewardship	DL2	Enroll all municipalities that are eligible in Urban Stewardship programs	Х	Х
Brownfield Redevelopment to Create Parks	DL3	Redevelop brownfield sites to create new green space	20 sites (100 acres)	200 sites (1000 acres)
Revitalize Older Parks & Urban Schoolyards	DL4	Enhance public parks in urban areas and improve urban schoolyards	ards and 20 sites (50 (100 ards acres) acre	
Enhancement	DL5	Improve soils through remediation and capping	500 acres	5000 acres

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR IMPLEMENTATION -

While this Strategy establishes targets for 2030 and 2050, the next step will be to develop a NWLS Action Plan. The NWLS Action Plan will identify and prioritize actionable, measurable, achievable, and beneficial actions to meet the goals set forth in the NWLS. Both the NWLS and the subsequent Action Plan are a call to action for all who own and

2024 NEW JERSEY NATURAL AND WORKING LANDS STRATEGY

manage land in New Jersey. Entities that have the potential to help mitigate climate change through these recommended practices extend beyond local and state governments to non-governmental organizations, private landowners, and others. A critical aspect of the NWLS Action Plan will be to identify funding. The NWLS Action Plan will list strategic funding opportunities, especially new funding streams from the federal government (e.g., Bipartisan Infrastructure Law, Inflation Reduction Act, Climate Pollution Reduction Grants), to leverage current NJDEP funding mechanisms. To facilitate the implementation of the NWLS, the following workflow diagram visualizes how NJDEP plans to conduct and reach its NWLS target goals.

The Action Plan will prioritize the targets in this Strategy using metrics based on climate, socioeconomics, program capacity, and available funding. This process will define which targets NJDEP and NJDA should focus its resources on first to maximize the state's success in increasing carbon sequestration, improving human quality of life, and restoring New Jersey's natural and working lands. Partnership development will also be crucial to successfully implementing the Natural and Working Lands Strategy. NJDEP will rely on a diversity of partnerships with a common goal to collectively mitigate climate change on New Jersey's natural and working lands. This encompasses all levels of government, public-private groups, academia, and individuals. Such broad, diverse and all-inclusive partnership endeavors represent a healthy working group to drive the Strategy forward through implementation.



Monitoring and adaptive management will be crucial to ensuring that the implementation of the NWLS is meeting the set targets. NJDEP plans to regularly report and track ongoing NWLS target programs and projects throughout the state and monitor its progress via:

- NWLS Action Workplan-Progress Report
- Future carbon accounting and tracking tool
- RGGI tracking via <u>New Jersey RGGI Climate Investments</u> online dashboard
- Further policy formulation, if needed
 - o Guidance development
 - o Rule proposals

Table 2. Potential Partners

POTENTIAL PARTNERS						
Partners	Forested Land	Wetlands	Aquatic Habitats	Agricultural Land	Developed Land	
Federal government agencies	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
US Fish and Wildlife Service	Х	Х				
US Department of Agriculture	Х			Х		
US Department of Agriculture Forest Service	Х					
US Department of Agriculture Natural Resource Conservation Service	Х					
National Estuary Programs		Х	Х			
New York-New Jersey Harbor Estuary Program		Х	Х			
Barnegat Bay Partnership		Х	Х			
Partnership for the Delaware Estuary		Х	Х			
State government agencies	Х					
NJ Department of Environmental Protection						
NJ Department of Transportation		Х				
NJ Department of Agriculture	Х			Х		
Local governments (counties and municipalities)	Х	Х	Х		Х	
Wetland mitigation banks		Х				
Corporate partners					Х	
Redevelopment authorities					Х	
Private and public developers					Х	
Non-governmental organizations		Х			Х	
Environmental Non-profits	Х	Х			Х	
Non-profits that purchase land	Х					
Private landowners	Х	Х	Х			
Academic institutions	Х				Х	

Table 3. Potential Funding Sources

POTENTIAL FUNDING SOURCES						
Potential Funding Sources	Forested Land	Wetlands	Aquatic Habitats	Agricultural Land	Developed Land	
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration grants	Х	Х	Х			
Habitat Restoration & Coastal Resilience Grants						
Effects of Sea Level Rise Grants		Х	Х			
Coastal Zone Management funding		Х	Х			
U.S. Department of Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency grants		Х	Х			
U.S. Army Corps Developing Engineering Practices for Ecosystem Design Solutions		Х				
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency grants		Х				
Brownfield Grants	Х				Х	
National Fish and Wildlife Foundation Grants					Х	
America the Beautiful Grants	Х	Х				
National Coastal Resilience Fund	Х	Х			Х	
Delaware Watershed Conservation Fund		Х				
Restore America's Estuaries Watershed Grants for National Estuary Programs		Х				
Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (e.g. Natural Climate Solutions Grants)		Х				
NJDEP Grants	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
319 Grants						
Green Acres Stewardship Grants		Х			Х	
Hazardous Discharge Site Remediation Fund grants		Х				
Green Acres acquisitions					Х	
Blue Acres acquisitions	Х				Х	
NJ Corporate Wetlands Restoration Partnership		Х			Х	
Non-governmental organizations and other non- profits		Х				
The Nature Conservancy	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
World Wildlife Fund	Х	Х	Х	Х	_	

2024 NEW JERSEY NATURAL AND WORKING LANDS STRATEGY

National Wildlife Federation	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Public-private partnerships	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Research foundations	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Universities and research institutions	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х

FORESTS



FORESTS

New Jersey's forests cover approximately 40 percent of the state's total land area, making up the largest land area of any ecosystem type in New Jersey. Forests provide a variety of ecological, social, and cultural services, including habitat for wildlife, public recreation, water filtration, and carbon sequestration and storage. In 2004, the ecosystem services of New Jersey's forests were valued at \$2,025 per acre per year or \$2.96 billion per year, after adjusting to 2020 dollars.⁶⁰ Including live and dead biomass and soil organic carbon, the forests of New Jersey currently store about 141,320,375 metric tons of carbon, and they sequester more and more every year. While historic trends show significant deforestation beginning in the 1800s, the State's total forested area has largely stabilized in recent years, with only a 6.9% loss between 1986 and 2012.⁶¹ However, the percent forest cover is expected to decrease once again in the coming decades due to additional development pressures, shifting forest age class diversity, and the impacts of invasive species.⁶²

Considerations for All Forest Targets

Co-benefits

Forests provide valuable ecological, social, and cultural services. Some of these services include wildlife habitat, public recreation and health, water filtration, and carbon sequestration and storage.^{63,64} Afforestation has many co-benefits. Adding forested areas creates wildlife habitat for forest-dependent species, which can help to increase the connectivity of forested habitats, reducing habitat fragmentation.⁶⁵ When green spaces such as forests are in close proximity to developed areas, they can benefit communities through improved air and water quality, shade/temperature regulation, recreation, increased property values, flood attenuation, and a variety of mental health benefits.^{66,67} Well-placed afforestation projects can also increase biodiversity on a landscape scale, aid in flood mitigation, and create a demand for green jobs.

Reforestation and forest restoration provide many of the same benefits as afforestation, in addition to restoring ecosystem function and habitat connectivity. Reforestation provides habitat benefits for threatened and endangered bird species that depend on young forests and open-canopy mixed-aged forests dispersed within mature forests.^{68–71} It also helps to diversify forest structure and age, while promoting healthy tree regeneration in areas that previously struggled with specific site conditions, mesophication, over-abundant deer populations, and invasive plant presence, amongst other things.⁷²

Avoided conversion ensures that forested areas remain as forests. This recommendation seeks to reduce the development of forested lands, and contributes to the maintenance of wildlife habitat, better air and water quality, availability of recreation opportunities, and the protection of carbon pools. In addition, forest protection supports movement corridors for wildlife. The conversion of forests is detrimental to carbon storage and sequestration. When forest land is converted to other uses, the result is a generally permanent loss of carbon stored in trees and future sequestration associated with those trees.

Improved forest management co-benefits include creating and maintaining diverse landscapes that foster diversity in tree age, forest structure, habitat type, and species composition. Forest stand improvement can include a variety of on the ground management techniques such as thinning, shelterwood, invasive plant removal, prescribed burning, planting, etc.⁴⁰ The combination of Indigenous population decline and displacement, fire suppression, and extensive logging as a result of unregulated forest harvesting drastically changed the fire regime in New Jersey. These changes resulted in consequences such as a reduction or loss of important ecosystem services, altered fuel and fire behavior, an increase in forest stand density, and a largely homogenized landscape.⁷³ With an average of 1,500 wildfires burning approximately 7,000 acres of forest each year,^{74,104} wildfire mitigation is a high priority for the state. Wildfire and Southern Pine Beetle mitigation can be accomplished by a combination of forest thinning and prescribed fire.⁷⁵ Prescribed burns do not aim to kill overstory trees, but they can aid in regeneration of fire-dependent tree species that require high heat to release their seeds. Therefore, prescribed burns can provide the benefits of a low-level fire regime

to fire dependent species and regions such as the New Jersey pine barrens while reducing the threat to human life and property.

Potential Negative Impacts/Tradeoffs

Afforestation can be primarily accomplished on abandoned agricultural fields, where re-establishing forests is prioritized over reviving the fields for agricultural purposes. When considering potential areas for afforestation, NJDEP will conduct an evaluation to determine the ecological services that may be lost when afforestation occurs. These could include impacts to species that rely on the land in its current state, including pollinators and grassland-dependent wildlife. Threatened and endangered species of grassland-dependent wildlife are of particular concern.

Active forest management for ecological health and function can also result in an immediate loss of some stored carbon depending on the management type in exchange for added resilience, stability or biodiversity.⁷⁶ Tradeoffs in carbon storage and sequestration for forest resilience, ecosystem function, and wildlife habitat must be carefully examined and calculated prior to management implementation.

Smoke from wildfires and prescribed burns can impact air quality and associated human health. Recent studies have demonstrated a relationship between wildfire smoke exposure and adverse health effects, specifically respiratory and possibly cardiovascular effects.^{77–80} On the other hand, there has been little research done on the impact that smoke from prescribed burns has on human health. In an Australia-based study by Haikerwal et al.⁸¹ data showed that exposure to smoke from prescribed burning was usually less than a day, but that prescribed burning smoke could result in short-term peak exposures that were up to 15 times higher than advised daily standards. Although smoke exposure from prescribed burns tends to be shorter duration than wildfire smoke and wildfire smoke exposures are typically an order of magnitude greater than prescribed burns, prescribed burns generally occur on rotations that are more frequent than wildfire, and can expose nearby residents to more regular peak concentrations of harmful pollutants.^{81,82}

Expected Impacts of Climate Change on Carbon Sequestration

Climate change will apply additional pressure to forests from sea level rise, increasing temperatures, and increased probability of droughts. It will be important to plant tree species that are tolerant of higher temperatures, drought-tolerant, and fall within projected shifts in species ranges. Planting outside the reach of projected sea level rise will make New Jersey forests more resilient in a changing climate.

Climate change is expected to increase damaging pest populations such as Southern Pine Beetle (Dendroctonus frontalis). Southern Pine Beetle (SPB) are native to the Southeastern US, and there is evidence that increases in minimum winter temperatures across geographic ranges have facilitated their movement into New Jersey and other Northeastern states.⁸³ However, thinning overstocked forest stands and promoting mixed-species forest stands provides a tool to help mitigate these pest infestations.^{84–86}

Precipitation patterns are also changing over time, with a minor projected increase in annual precipitation that is expected to fall in less frequent, more intense storms. Trees will continue to play an important role by absorbing rainwater to mitigate flooding. Controlled burns will also help to mitigate large wildfires as New Jersey experiences more frequent dry periods due to climate change.

Improved forest management is the comprehensive strategy for increasing forest health and resilience in the face of a changing climate. Healthier forests will be less impacted by stress due to increased temperatures, drought, resource competition, severe storms, and invasive insects.^{87,88}

Environmental Justice Considerations

As described above, forested spaces in overburdened communities, particularly those in highly developed areas, are often lacking. Where present, these green spaces provide positive contributions to the improvement of air and water quality, flood mitigation, provide shade and temperature regulation to reduce heat island effects, create space for recreation, lead to an increase in property values, and support improved physical and mental health. To ensure that members of OBCs can receive these myriad benefits without added economic and financial burdens, steps must be taken to provide sufficient financial, technical, and planning support to maintain planted trees.

Some OBCs can benefit from avoided emissions through fire risk mitigation measures that protect life and property, especially in wildland urban interface areas.

Forest Recommendations for Land Management Practices

Afforestation Target (F1)

• Afforest 200 acres per year, for a total of 1,600 acres through 2030 and 4,000 acres through 2050.

Afforestation is the practice of establishing trees on land that has lacked forest cover for a very long time or on land that has never been forested. The first afforestation target is to identify and plant non-forested land to a forested condition with appropriate species, in appropriate locations. For example, ash trees would not be appropriate trees to plant throughout the state at this time due to ongoing invasive Emerald Ash Borer (Agrilus planipennis) outbreaks causing high mortality across ash species. Similarly, it isn't recommended to plant upland tree species in wetlands or lowlands. It is imperative to match tree species habitat and resource requirements to the sites that need to be planted.Bear

Afforestation expands the overall carbon pools by establishing more forest that can pull carbon dioxide out of the air and store it for hundreds of years. Establishing forest on abandoned agricultural lands and other non-forested lands has the greatest potential for creating net carbon sequestration.²

How the target was developed

The afforestation target to convert 200 acres of non-forest land to forest land per year through 2050 and the reforestation target to reforest or restore 40 sites across the state and restore 2,000 acres by 2050 are set lower than our neighboring states targets for these same recommendations.^{89–92} This is a result of New Jersey's dense population and the extensive work that has already been done in preserving our forested and agricultural lands. According to Lathrop and Hasse,^{61,93} New Jersey is the most densely populated state in the nation with the highest percentage of its land in urban land uses, and by 2015 nearly 33% of the state's roughly 5 million acres were urbanized. New Jersey's most urbanized counties are providing indicators that they are nearing buildout, with other counties already approaching functional buildout. As acres of urbanization and development in our state continue to increase annually, acres of forest, wetlands, and agriculture have continued to decrease over the past 29 years.^{61,93} On the flip side, the NJDEP's Green Acres Program has been very successful in purchasing and preserving land within the state since its inception in 1961. As of June 2022, the Green Acres Program has directly protected 681,234 acres of open space and parkland and has funded 1,256 local and nonprofit park development and stewardship projects in communities around the state, overall preserving 1,626,108 acres of open space in New Jersey.⁹⁴ The state of New Jersey has created and preserved forested land at a consistently high rate up until this point. With buildout anticipated in some counties in the near future, there is limited land remaining within the state that is appropriate for afforestation or reforestation, and the targets aim to reflect that limitation.

Near-term actions

- Research the most efficient way to transform abandoned agricultural lands/brownfields/other non-forested spaces into ecologically functioning forests.
- Identify plant-able space in urban settings for potential afforestation.
- Target outreach and education towards consulting foresters and private landowners with the capacity to afforest property.
- Increase production of seedlings at the state nursery to supply sufficient trees for planting.
- Create afforestation Best Management Practices to increase the success of public and private afforestation projects. This will include practices that increase equity and access for EJ communities in New Jersey.

Reforestation/Forest Restoration Target (F2)

• Reforest 10 state-owned sites through 2030 and 40 state-owned sites through 2050.

Prioritize sites on state land for reforestation. Reforestation is the practice of reestablishing forest cover where it previously existed, either through natural or artificial methods assisted by human intervention. NJDEP will identify degraded forests where ecosystem function is disrupted and plan to restore or enhance them to a forested condition that will efficiently capture and store carbon long-term.

How the target was developed

Similar to the development of the afforestation target (target F1), this reforestation target was developed based on the limited land capacity for reforestation in the State. This target will focus on highly degraded forests where ecosystem function is heavily disrupted or halted, and intends to reforest 40 sites (of varying sizes, dependent on availability and project feasibility) by 2050.

Near-term actions

- Continue to assess state land in accordance with the current inventory agreement with the USDA Forest Service FIA program to aid in identifying priority sites for reforestation.
- Prioritize state lands that have disrupted ecological function for future forest restoration/reforestation projects.
- Revisit state owned properties that are permitted for forest restoration/reforestation activities to assess next steps.

Reforestation Across Ownerships Targets (F3)

• Reforest 800 total acres through 2030 and 2,000 total acres through 2050.

A large portion of forests in New Jersey are on privately owned land. Reforesting privately owned lands can increase carbon sequestration beyond what is attainable by focusing solely on publicly owned land. This target sets a goal for reforestation or forest restoration on lands that are not state-owned.

How the target was developed

Similar to the development of the afforestation target (target F1), this reforestation target was developed based on the limited land capacity for reforestation in the State. This target will focus on highly degraded forests on privately-owned lands where ecosystem function is heavily disrupted or halted and intends to reforest 2,000 acres by 2050. This target was also developed based on current availability of nursery stock for planting, as well as the willingness of private landowners to restore their forests.

Near-term actions

- Assist homeowners in restoring degraded forests on their properties by providing education and financial incentives.
- Externally, NJDEP can encourage non-profits and other organizations to do the following:
- Survey their land-bases for forests in need of restoration or land that has the potential to be forested.
- Increase outreach and training programs to private landowners to encourage participation in forest management programs on private lands.

Nursery Production Target (F4)

• Increase tree nursery production across the state by 20% by 2030 and then maintain through 2050.

Existing tree nursery stock is limited and will need to increase to provide seedlings for future forestry projects and planting goals. A 20% increase in production will support municipalities, private landowners, and state-led management afforestation and reforestation efforts. Increasing support, funding, and production at tree and native plant nurseries across the state will result in a direct increase in carbon stored and sequestered as new trees are grown to be sold for planting projects in urban, suburban, rural, and traditional forest settings.

How target was developed

With the afforestation, reforestation, and urban and developed lands planting targets all requiring trees, a target to increase nursery productivity across the state (including the NJ Forest Service Nursery and privately-owned nurseries) will be necessary to ensure the availability of enough trees in a variety of sizes and species to contribute to statewide planting goals.

Near-term actions

- Determine needs for additional funding, physical materials, and potential additional staff in order to increase production by 20%.
- Provide nursery stock that is more climate, pest, and disease resistant.
- Provide nursery stock of native tree and other rare species.

Minimize Conversion of Forested Lands Targets (F5)

• Maintain annual forest conversion rate of 4,000 acres converted to non-forest cover until 2030, then reduce forestland converted to non-forest cover to 2,000 acres per year, by 2050.

Avoided conversion helps us to protect our forested lands and has the greatest potential for carbon sequestration benefits, as it keeps trees alive and sequestering carbon. According to data collected by Lathrop et al.,^{47,70} between 2007 and 2015, New Jersey forest lands were being converted to non-forest uses at an average of approximately 4,051 acres per year. Forest Inventory and Analysis data shows that the average acre of New Jersey's forest stores approximately 370 metric tons CO2e per acre, meaning that every acre we avoid conversion from forest use, we are protecting those 370 metric tons CO2e per acre of stored carbon plus the approximately 2 metric tons CO2e that are sequestered per acre per year that otherwise would have been lost to conversion.

New Jersey is approximately 40% forested, with state, federal, county, and municipal government owning 53% of that forested land, and private landowners owning the remaining 47% of forested land. Private landowners own a mixture of both traditional and urban forests. These forests are at a higher risk of conversion to non-forest uses like development because they have less protections than government-owned forest land. According to data from the 2018 National Woodland Owners Survey,⁹⁵ 93% of private family landowners in New Jersey had moderate to great concerns about the cost of property taxes, 82% had moderate to great concerns about keeping land intact in future generations and 49% of private family landowners responded that they would sell their land if offered a reasonable price. Current state forestry programs such as Woodland Assessment and Forest Stewardship help to mitigate some of this risk by providing property tax breaks to owners that manage their forests.^{96,97} These programs help keep forests as forests and healthy forests as healthy forests. However, there are still losses to these programs mainly through fragmentation as properties are split up into smaller units and through development. These are hard to track as more properties enter the program every year than are lost to the program. As of 2015, urban lands comprise the largest acreage of land-use in the state, and several counties are close to reaching buildout.⁹³ With such limited space left in the state for afforestation or reforestation and so much forested land already protected, forest conservation and management to mitigate risks to forest carbon are a high priority for carbon sequestration in New Jersey's forests.

Existing forests store a wealth of carbon in live and dead vegetation and wood, leaf litter, and soil. When forests are converted to developed lands, they not only lose stored carbon on that specific site but cease to sequester carbon into the foreseeable future. By minimizing the conversion of forested lands to non-forest uses these areas can continue to function as net GHG sinks by keeping carbon stored in forests on the landscape and by keeping forests continuously sequestering carbon as they grow. Protecting forests involves controlling the drivers of development, such as urban expansion, and forest degradation through insect and pathogen outbreaks and wildfires. Keeping forests as forests not only conserves existing forest carbon pools, but provides important co-benefits like preserving biodiversity and ecosystem function and services.⁹⁸

How the target was developed

A 2012 estimate by Lathrop et al. ⁶¹ looked at the rate of deforestation in New Jersey from 2007 to 2012 and found that just over 4,000 acres of forestland were converted to non-forest use each year.⁶¹ The target aims to cut this in half and hold deforestation to 2,000 acres per year.

Near-term actions

- Increase the percentage of forested land and overall acreage purchased by the Department and through funding provided by the Green Acres program.
- Explore revising Green Acres regulations to preserve forested uses.

- Enroll approximately 75,000 acres of state forest lands in a carbon market.
- Encourage enrollment of private lands in carbon markets.
- Increase enrollment of private landowners into the forest stewardship and Farmland Assessment program.
- Increase education regarding forest management.

Externally, NJDEP can encourage non-profits and other organizations to do the following:

- Increase their land-base to leverage opportunities to keep forests as forests.
- Increase outreach and training programs to private landowners to encourage participation in forest management programs on private lands.

Forest Carbon Market Target (F6)

Enroll 75,000 acres of forest lands into a carbon market by 2030 and 100,000 acres by 2050.

Voluntary carbon offset markets allow landowners to sell the carbon sequestered in their forest to another entity to offset emissions made elsewhere. The income from state land carbon credits could be used to fund forest management activities and potentially the conservation of additional lands to forested use.

How the target was developed

The New Jersey Forest Service has recent inventory data across 75,000 acres of state-owned land that can be used to assess those lands for carbon market potential. The NJFS hopes to enroll all 75,000 acres into a forest carbon market by 2030, and at least 25,000 more acres by 2050 (dependent on future market conditions). By 2050, the hope is that more entities within the state will be able to enroll their properties in carbon markets to reach a target of 100,000 acres enrolled.

Near-term actions

- Release a Request for Expression of Interest (RFEI) for a carbon market on state land.
- Conduct exploratory research on the viability of carbon markets on privately held forested lands appropriate to the distribution and size of these lands in New Jersey.
- Educate non-profits and other natural resource-based organizations on carbon markets how they work, barriers to entry, etc.

Improved Forest Management – Ecological Management Target (F7)

Plan ecological forest management to sequester carbon while mimicking natural processes and diversity in forest systems on 100,000 acres by 2030 and 200,000 acres by 2050.

Active forest management can improve carbon sequestration, while enhancing forest resilience, health, and ecological benefits. Forest management helps ensure the longevity of native forests while providing age and structural diversity.

As forests grow and regenerate, they sequester carbon from the atmosphere, and store increasing amounts of carbon as they continue to age and grow. Disturbance events such as fire, insect outbreaks, or disease release carbon back into the atmosphere. As the forest recovers and regrows from the disturbance, it removes carbon from the atmosphere once again. Due to the forest carbon cycle's reliance on disturbances to complete the loop, carbon balances in forests fluctuate throughout time, but tend to trend upwards due to overall stands of trees continuing to grow. Trees need to photosynthesize to grow and survive. If photosynthesis is impacted in any way, it influences the amount of carbon that will be sequestered. Photosynthesis can be impacted by tree crowding, competition for forest resources, drought, insect and pathogen outbreaks, high winds, or fires. By implementing management practices that keep our forest resilient and healthy, we are positively influencing photosynthesis, and therefore carbon uptake by forest stands benefiting from that management.

Ecological forest management can have many benefits, including protecting stored carbon when practices help to keep forests as forests by preventing catastrophic loss of forests from stand-killing wildfires or pest infestations. The practice involves creating and maintaining diverse landscapes that foster diversity in tree age, forest structure, habitat type, and

2024 NEW JERSEY NATURAL AND WORKING LANDS STRATEGY

species composition. Forest stand improvement can include a variety of on-the-ground management techniques such as thinning, shelterwood, invasive plant removal, prescribed burning, planting, etc.⁴⁰ It can also include inventory and research techniques. Carbon sequestration is one of many goals of ecological forest management. To balance priorities, resource managers must analyze the potential carbon outcome(s) of all forest management projects. Resource managers must also assess the project's risks, tradeoffs, and other ecological benefits.

The New Jersey Forest Service is currently working on a carbon-focused model that uses data collected over the past 5 years from New Jersey forests to better understand the carbon tradeoffs of different types of management techniques. This model, called the Forest Carbon and Risk Modeling Assessment (ForCARMA) model will help to inform ecological forest management decisions as they relate to carbon. This model will take into account risks like wildfire and insect outbreaks and will be able to compare risk scenarios with management scenarios, business-as-usual scenarios, and "lab conditions" to assess what the carbon impacts of some management decisions are relative to other management decisions.

For example, we can identify forested areas at high risk of SPB outbreaks by looking at forest data and metrics such as species composition, basal area, trees per acre, and disturbance history at that site. Mortality due to insect outbreaks in New Jersey in the last decade has far exceeded the area impacted by fire, harvesting, or windstorms.⁴⁶ As of 2023, there are many invasive insects negatively affecting New Jersey's forests. Some of the most impactful insects include Southern Pine Beetle (SPB)(Dendroctonus frontalis), Emerald Ash Borer (EAB) (Agrilus planipennis), and LDD Moth (Lymantria dispar dispar). Invasive and non-native invasive insects have few natural predators in New Jersey and destroy native plants, which in turn can emit carbon and impact native wildlife.⁹⁹ Insects such as SPB and EAB can quickly grow their populations to outbreak levels in the right conditions and can kill large swaths of trees in just a few months to a few years, resulting in large, immediate losses in carbon. Other insects, like LDD Moth, have cyclical outbreaks that can slowly kill large swaths of trees over several years to decades, resulting in smaller carbon losses over the course of several decades. States in the western USA and parts of Canada have been heavily impacted by Mountain Pine Beetle (Dendroctonus ponderosae) over the past few decades to the point where some of their forests have converted from carbon sinks to carbon sources.^{47,48} Actively managing forests that are currently being impacted by or are at high risk of being impacted by invasive and non-native insects can mitigate the risk of large carbon losses over the next few years and decades.

On average, New Jersey has 1,500 wildfires across 7,000 acres of forested land annually.⁹⁶ To help mitigate catastrophic wildfire events that release large amounts of carbon into the atmosphere, the New Jersey Forest Fire Service conducts prescribed burns in fire-dependent forest and grassland systems. While the action of prescribed burning does release stored carbon into the atmosphere, careful selection of forests where the risk of forest loss due to tree deaths from wildfire may have a net carbon benefit over time. The purpose of prescribed burns is for fire to consume the fuels on the forest floor and in the understory without killing overstory trees so that if a wildfire were to occur, it would be less aggressive and may spread more slowly due to lack of fuels thus reducing the risk of catastrophic tree deaths and forest loss.

Low and from below thinning is another wildfire and pest mitigation tool that is implemented by the NJ Forest Service in conjunction with the NJ Forest Fire Service. Low and from below, or low thinning only removes the shortest suppressed trees within an even-aged forest stand, mimicking the natural mortality of self-thinning during normal stand development at an accelerated rate. These removed trees are often small in diameter with misshapen or deformed crowns and are the least likely to survive to healthy levels of maturity or to be marketable. This type of thinning does not promote the regeneration of trees. Suppressed and intermediate trees can serve as ladder fuels in our forests, helping to carry potential wildfires from the forest floor up into the main forest canopy. Low and from below thinning are generally left on the forest floor within the site. Like prescribed burning, the action of thinning releases stored carbon into the atmosphere, however its use to prevent likely future outbreaks can reduce the scale of those outbreaks and careful selection of forests where the risk of forest loss due to tree deaths from wildfire or pest outbreaks may have a net carbon benefit overtime from preventive thinning.

How the target was developed

This ecological forest management target was developed based on planning and management trends by the NJ Forest Service over the past several decades. Based on current inventory data and planning cycles, the NJFS prioritizes specific state parks and forests for the creation and implementation of ecological forest management plans that prioritize select forest stands within that park or forest for management. These management practices will increase carbon sequestration potential and carbon stored in stands where ecological function and/or regeneration have been disrupted. Co-benefits of these management actions can include forest restoration, habitat for wildlife and rare plants, wildfire mitigation, and mitigation of invasive insects, diseases, and plants, amongst other goals. Past forest stewardship plans that have been written and implemented by the New Jersey Forest Service that incorporate ecological forest management include the Double Trouble State Park Natural Resource Stewardship Plan and the Whiting Forest Stewardship Plan. NJDEP intends to stakeholder, create, and implement 2-3 new ecological management plans across state lands by 2050, encompassing approximately 200,000 acres of state forest land.

Near-term actions

- Create a New Jersey-specific Forest Management Model to analyze carbon tradeoffs among a variety of forest management, forest risk, and no-management scenarios.
- Coordinate with NJDEP Fish & Wildlife for opportunities to incorporate Connecting Habitat Across New Jersey (CHANJ) into forest planning.
- Assess forest lands for adequate tree regeneration in response to extensive deer browse or the presence of invasive species.

Improved Forest Management – Cost Share Targets (F8)

• Provide cost share to properties for improved forest management of 100 to 500 acres per year through 2050.

This funding source will enable carbon-centric forest management practices such as afforestation, reforestation, forest restoration, improved forest management, and avoided emissions to take place on private and municipal properties.

How the target was developed

This target was developed based on the availability of funding and cost-share opportunities for private and municipal forest landowners, such as the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI) Natural Climate Solutions Grant program and a variety of Natural Resource Conservation Service (NRCS) grants, that can help these landowners to plan and implement forest management projects on their properties.

Near-term actions

- Make private and municipal landowners aware of RGGI Natural Climate Solutions Grant program, and qualifications for submitting applications.
- Make consulting foresters working with private landowners aware of RGGI grant opportunities and the qualifications private and municipal landowners must meet to apply.
- Create new or more inclusive grant opportunities for private and municipal landowners to have their forested properties inventoried for future planning and management.

Private Forest Stewardship Targets (F9)

• Enroll private properties that are eligible into NJFS stewardship and Farmland Assessment programs, aiming for 115 additional properties per year through 2030, with all eligible properties enrolled by 2050.

This target helps forests remain forests. According to data from the 2018 National Woodland Owners Survey⁹⁵, 93% of private family landowners in New Jersey had moderate to great concerns about the cost of property taxes, 82% had moderate to great concerns about keeping land intact in future generations. and 49% of private family landowners responded that they would sell their land if offered a reasonable price. Current state forestry programs such as

Woodland Assessment and Forest Stewardship help to mitigate some of this risk by providing property tax breaks to owners that manage their forests.^{96,97} These programs help keep forests as forests and healthy forests as healthy forests.

New Jersey's forest stewardship program is available to private landowners with a minimum of five acres of forested land or land that is capable of becoming a forest, with at least 10% canopy cover.¹⁰⁰ This program is beneficial to landowners because it allows them to qualify for Farmland Assessment preferential tax benefits. The program involves a 10-year commitment that includes generating and following a plan to actively manage the forest, along with monitoring progress every three years. These programs encourage landowners to keep their forested land intact and well-managed instead of selling it to avoid the high cost of property taxes or to the highest-bidding developer, directly contributing to the forest carbon protection and future sequestration goals outlined in the avoided emissions section, as well as the ecological forest management and improved forest management sections. According to statistics garnered from the NJ Woodland Assessment Program and Stewardship database, properties enrolled in the program are less likely to convert forested land for development than other privately held properties, which directly contributes to our target for avoiding forest conversion to protect stored forest carbon and encourage future sequestration – especially on privately held lands . The goal of this target is to increase participation in this program to encourage conservation of privately owned forests.

How the target was developed

On average, the NJFS Private Lands Stewardship Program adds approximately 115 additional properties to the program each year. This target is based on the current rate and aims to continue enrolling and encouraging more private landowners to participate in forest management activities each year.

Near-term actions

٠

Increase outreach to private landowners to make them aware of the forest stewardship program and its range of benefits to property owners and the environment.

Forest Recommendations for Policy Changes

Improved Forest Management: Under this strategy there are opportunities to do more to ensure net carbon sequestration and the health of New Jersey's forests through several actions.

- The NJDEP will provide 10 years of predictive forest management implementation opportunities consistent with the New Jersey State Forest Action Plan. These opportunities will heavily focus on forest carbon protection and increased sequestration.
- Monitoring: In order to make informed decisions regarding forest management, well-established forest monitoring planning, protocols & implementation must maintain high standards, and integrate new data collection methodology to provide more accurate forest carbon metrics.
- Expand damage causing agent surveys across the state, for all forest ownerships, which will allow resource managers to respond to forest pest and disease outbreaks in a timely manner, and limit forest carbon emissions to the atmosphere.
- Map, monitor, and remove invasive plant species in conjunction with the New Jersey Invasive Species Strike Team to increase forest regeneration success and ensure that there is forest carbon continuity within impacted stands.
- Annually survey state lands & identify areas where ecosystem function is disrupted, and carbon sequestration is limited.
- Annually assess regeneration status of forest lands that have been affected by wildfires or damage causing agents to ensure continuity of stored and sequestered forest carbon in impacted stands.
- Assess the impacts of climate change to areas where northern hardwoods have succeeded oak forests.
- Upgrade New Jersey's current Forest Inventory and Analysis (FIA) Inventory Agreement contracts to include Phase 3 inventory plots that relate to forest ecosystem function, condition, and health to help prioritize areas for beneficial forest carbon management.

Funding: NJDEP will also work to make funding available for public and private forest management projects through several avenues.

- Encourage Green Acres and the State Agriculture Development Committee to afforest their properties where appropriate.
- Incentivize agricultural landowners to establish forests in areas where field production is no longer financially feasible and where opportunities for carbon markets exist that may provide enough financial benefits to dissuade land-use changes to uses with higher carbon footprints than forests.
- Create grant opportunities for municipal and private landowners to hire and consult with local forestry professionals for forest inventory, planning, and implementation on their forested lands.

Outreach: By enhancing the scope of outreach efforts, NJDEP and other natural resource-based organizations can convey the importance of carbon sequestration and storage in forests as a means of mitigating climate change to the public.

- Improve forest management outreach, programming, and curriculum to emphasize carbon sequestration at State and partner facilities.
- Increase geographical reach of forestry education programs.
- Publish a new NJDEP webpage on forest carbon, climate & forest management.
- Enhance outreach and education by utilizing and improving State and partner facilities
- Install kiosks and displays with forest management information throughout the state to engage a wider audience.
- Establish a forestry cooperative with the state's land grant institution, Rutgers University, and establish forestry-based academic joint-ventures with other universities.

Locally sourced durable forest products: In this modern era, wood products continue to be commonly used in construction and textiles. There is strong evidence at the product level that wood products from sustainably managed forests are associated with less greenhouse emissions in their production, use and disposal over their lifetime compared to products made from emission-intensive and nonrenewable materials.⁹⁸ When wood products are transported across states or even across oceans, significant greenhouse gas emissions are generated by the transportation. Sourcing wood products locally can greatly reduce the emissions from transporting those products.

Increases in carbon storage in wood products can be accomplished by 1) increasing the amount of long-lived wood products available through additional tree harvesting or reallocation of harvested wood, 2) increasing the lifetime of wood products through proper care, and 3) by increasing recycling of these products after use.⁹⁸ Wood products can also contribute to reaching GHG emissions goals through material substitution, which involves the use of wood products for building and textiles over the use of other materials like concrete or steel to reduce emissions associated with the production, use, and disposal of those products that wood products would be replacing.

Public forest management in New Jersey does not prioritize tree harvesting for wood products as a primary management goal. Any wood products that come from public lands management are ancillary to the management objectives, like forest health and protecting larger carbon pools, and we can work to ensure those products remain local, and incentivize their use over other more emissions-intensive products like concrete or steel. New Jersey's citizens will continue to utilize wood and paper products in their everyday lives, and being able to provide a source of sustainably and locally harvested materials, while ensuring a new tree crop will be planted, can reduce emissions through the supply chain.

Regulation:

• Consider updating building codes to accommodate and incentivize the use of emerging carbon-positive construction materials such as mass timber over the use of concrete and steel which have significantly larger associated carbon footprints.

Funding:

Incentivize the use/consumption of long-lived wood products over more carbon-intensive products such as steel or concrete, where applicable.

Outreach:

• Improve consumer awareness of the "New Jersey Grown" agricultural designations for wood products to help combat carbon leakage.

Coordination:

- Support and collaborate with businesses that are interested in starting niche forest product markets in New Jersey.
- Maintain and update the list of Forest Industry Professionals working and running their businesses using local New Jersey forest products.

Knowledge Gaps:

- Soil carbon storage capacity of forests what factors affect the capacity? What management practices can enhance soil carbon storage?
- Soil structure on post-agricultural lands does it differ from traditional forests of varying ages?
- Carbon flux what are the rates and factors influencing flux between forest carbon pools? What design or implementation variables can maximize sequestration benefits?
- Economic impact of carbon leakage what are the effects at local and global scales?
- Social science what motivates our stakeholders and how can support and collaboration be garnered for forest management?
- Carbon markets how do these work economically and how can they be implemented on smaller scales, such as on private lands with small forest holdings?
- Assess what wood products are being brought into the state & identify their uses.

WETLANDS



WETLANDS

A wetland is a unique ecosystem where the land is regularly saturated with water for an extended period each year. There are a variety of types of wetlands, such as bogs, marshes, and swamps, but all wetlands have three essential characteristics in **common**: 1) water at or above the surface during part of the year; 2) saturated soils for long enough that soils become anaerobic (lack oxygen), and 3) have plants that are specially adapted to survived in wet and anaerobic soils. Wetlands can be found throughout the state, from the salty green grasslands that form a band around the coast, to the forested swamps. New Jersey's wetlands cover approximately 993,249 acres, about 17% of the total land area.¹⁰¹

Considerations for all wetlands targets

Co-benefits

Wetlands provide a myriad of ecosystem service benefits. They clean and absorb water, provide habitat for commercially important fish and endangered plants and animals, and attract ecotourists.

Out of all New Jersey's natural and working lands, the ecosystem services of wetlands provide the largest economic value, at \$11 billion per year, adjusted to 2021 dollars.^{63,64} For example, approximately \$625 million in storm damage was prevented by coastal wetlands during Hurricane Sandy.¹⁰²

Atlantic white cedar swamps are an ecologically significant habitat for several state and federally-listed species, such as swamp pink (Helionas bullata). They also provide valuable habitat for Pinelands fauna, such as Timber Rattlesnake (Crotalus horridus), which hibernate in cedar swamps in the winter. In addition, the Hessel's hairstreak (Mitoura hesseli), listed as a species of concern in New Jersey, exclusively depends on Atlantic white cedar swamps.

Potential Negative Impacts/Tradeoffs

Animal use will change if site characteristics transform (e.g., changes in hydrology, salinity, or plant cover). There are often habitat tradeoffs when environmental restoration is performed. For example, rebuilding salt marshes can replace mudflats where wading birds feed and may reduce the area for submerged aquatic vegetation habitat.

Because tidal reconnection projects are reintroducing tidal flow, there is a risk of increasing flooding in nearby communities. Projects can be designed to prevent an increase in flood risk.

There is a risk that when freshwater wetlands are restored, the methane produced will negate the climate change benefits associated with the additional carbon storage. Not enough is known about the amount of methane produced by the majority of freshwater wetland types in the State. For this reason, besides Atlantic white cedar swamps, restoration of freshwater wetlands has not been included in the strategy.

Expected Impacts of Climate Change on Carbon Sequestration

Tidally influenced wetlands are precariously placed between the ocean and upland. They exist in a narrow band of elevation and are susceptible to increasing rates of sea level rise. Without action, tens of thousands of acres of tidal wetlands are expected to be lost due to sea level rise and erosion.

Inland, freshwater wetlands are also susceptible to the effects of climate change. Drought might shift the role of wetlands from carbon sinks to carbon sources. However, higher temperatures and more rain can maintain the role of wetlands as carbon sinks.¹⁰³ Changes in precipitation and temperature patterns will affect the variability of groundwater levels in wetlands. This can impact wetland services such as flood protection, carbon storage, water cleansing, and wildlife habitat.^{98,104}

When these habitats are lost, they not only lose their ability to sequester carbon, but also gain the possibility that they will become significant sources of greenhouse gases as stored carbon is released back into the atmosphere.

Environmental Justice Considerations

Tidal wetland restoration and living shoreline projects can add environmental benefits in EJ communities by providing improved water quality, additional recreation opportunities, protection from storms and a subsequent reduction in residential flooding, and beautification of the scenery. On the other hand, because tidal reconnection projects are reintroducing tidal flow, there is a risk of increasing flooding in nearby communities. Projects can be designed to prevent an increase in flood risk.

Wetlands Recommendations for Land Management Practices

Tidal Reconnection Target (WL1)

• Complete one tidal reconnection project annually through 2030 and then two tidal reconnection projects annually through 2050.

Tidal flow in wetlands can be restricted or completely blocked by dikes, undersized culverts, roads, or other human made constrictions. This can lead to artificially low salinity in wetlands, which can increase methane release⁴⁹, and lower elevations, which can decreased vegetation cover. Reconnection projects can increase net sequestration when, 1) there is a goal to increase the cover of vegetation in salt marshes via increased sedimentation and/or planting, 2) the salinity of the marsh is expected to greatly increase as a result of restoring tidal flow and thus decrease methane emissions. Projects need to increase the salinity behind a tidal restriction from below 5ppt to above 5ppt and preferably to above 18ppt to reduce methane emissions.

How the target was developed

A target of one or two projects per year was selected for the following reasons:

- 1. To date, there have been few tidal reconnection projects in New Jersey. So, scaling up to 1 per year is a good stretch goal.
- 2. The carbon sequestration benefits of tidal reconnection projects will be site-specific. There needs to be nearly fresh water behind the tidal restriction and a salinity of over 18 parts per thousand outside the restriction. At this time, it is unknown how many sites fit this description.
- 3. These projects tend to be expensive because they require complicated engineering and heavy construction equipment.

Near-term actions

- Opportunities to restore tidal flow in tidally restricted salt marshes and impoundments in high salinity parts of estuaries were explored by Warnell and Olander⁴⁸, who identified about 10,100 acres in New Jersey where hydrologic connection projects could be targeted to reduce methane emissions.
- Survey impounded marshes that would naturally be saline if the impoundments were removed and create a list of potential project sites. These projects can be added to the Coastal Ecological Restoration and Adaptation Plan and partners can begin to develop projects.¹⁰⁵

Salt Marsh Vegetation Target (WL2)

• Vegetate 70 acres of salt marsh per year through 2030 and 200 acres per year through 2050.

This target increases carbon sequestration by increasing the cover of native salt marsh vegetation.

How the target was developed

The targets were set based on the past rate of permitting for these types of projects. From 2015 to 2022, around 50 acres of salt marsh were restored per year statewide. The highest acreage restored in any given year was 160 acres in 2020. These scaled-up targets of 70 to 200 acres per year are likely achievable with additional resources.

Near-term actions

Identify marshes with large areas of vegetation loss. Add projects to the Coastal Ecological Restoration and Adaptation Plan and partners can begin to develop projects.¹⁰⁵

Reforestation Target (WL3)

Restore 10,000 acres of Atlantic White Cedar Swamps by 2030 and 20,000 acres by 2050.

How the target was developed

The reforestation target for Atlantic white cedar forests was based on DEP's Atlantic White Cedar Wetland Ecosystem Restoration Strategy.¹⁰⁶ Through the stakeholder process for that strategy, DEP identified around 22,000 acres in New Jersey as hardwood forests with a cedar component. Sites were selected using the NJFS 2017 cedar assessment and topography was considered to determine vulnerability to sea-level rise. The presence of rare plants and niche wildlife were also considered in selecting candidate sites.

Near-term actions

- Stakeholder meetings for identified projects
- Establish a contracting mechanism to assist with project implementation
- Develop and receive permits
- Implement projects

Living Shoreline Target (WL4)

Install 7,800 feet of living shoreline annually through 2030, then 10,000 feet annually through 2050.

By protecting wetlands from wave action by installing living shorelines, carbon that has been accumulating for centuries can be protected from re-emission by storms and other erosive forces.

How the target was developed

The targets to install 7,800 and 10,000 linear feet of living shoreline per year were selected for the following reasons:

- 1. The annual length of permitted living shoreline from 2015 to 2022 were tabulated, and a 3-year rolling average was reviewed and a significant rate of increase was determined.
- 2. The rate of increasing permitted living shoreline was used to calculate the 2030 target of 7,800 feet per year. The 2050 value was selected at levels below the historical rate of increase to acknowledge the intermittent nature of funding.

Near-term actions

• Prioritize the development of living shoreline projects in areas with high erosion rates. Add the sites into the Coastal Ecological Restoration and Adaptation Plan so partners can begin to develop projects.¹⁰⁵

Protect Wetlands (WL5)

Reduce wetland soil disturbance by 10% by 2030 and 30% by 2050.

When wetland soils are disturbed by ditching or other anthropogenic activities, the soils can dry out and be exposed to oxygen. This can lead to centuries of stored carbon being rapidly emitted into the atmosphere as greenhouse warming gasses.

How the target was developed

The targets were selected for the following reasons:

- 1. Since authorization to implement the Federal permitting program in 1994, actual freshwater wetland losses have been tracked in the Department's databases (Paradox, NJEMS) and incorporated into an annual report to EPA. Based on these reports, approximately 150 acres of freshwater wetlands are disturbed per year.
- 2. The reduction of disturbance set to be achieved by 2030 and 2050 seem ambitious and reasonable.

Near-term actions

- Prioritize carbon rich wetlands for protection.
- Explore and implement regulatory and land acquisition options to meet targets.

Protect Tidal Wetland Migration Zones (WL6)

Protect 20% of marsh migration zones from development by 2050.

As sea level rises, more upland areas are being flooded by daily tides and new tidal wetlands are forming inland. This can only happen in areas that remain undeveloped and where roads and other infrastructure are not blocking tidal flow. Protecting marsh migration areas allows new tidal wetlands to form, offsetting areas that are lost to due to sea level rise and erosion.

How the target was developed

The target of protecting 20% of marsh migration areas by 2050 was selected for the following reasons:

- 1. No targets for 2030 were selected because a mechanism to protect marsh migration zones has not been established.
- 2. Because the mechanism for protection is unknown, the success of the mechanism is unknown as is the ecological success of marsh migration. The 20% protection target was selected as a conservative estimate.

Near-term actions

- Select a marsh migration model to use in planning
- Research mechanisms for protecting marsh migration zones
- Implement marsh migration zone protection policies and programs

Wetlands Recommendations for Policy Changes

There are five focus areas to maximize carbon sequestration in tidal wetlands: guidance, outreach, planning, funding, and regulations.

Guidance:

• Develop best management practices for maximizing carbon sequestration in Blue Carbon projects, integrating lessons from earlier implementation projects.

Outreach:

- Develop and implement a public outreach campaign.
- Institute a voluntary wetland stewardship program, like federal programs incentivizing restoration and stewardship on private lands, such as the Natural Resources Conservation Service's Wetlands Reserve Program.¹⁰⁷
- Educate private landowners and developers on ways to manage their land to minimize impacts to wetlands and reduce risk from climate change.

Planning:

- Reevaluate the Green Acres and Blue Acres programs to consider prioritizing the acquisition of land and conservation easements that will protect areas with high current carbon storage and future sequestration potential.
- Develop a Blue Carbon Action Plan to lay out specific goals for wetland sequestration.
- Review state and local Natural Hazard Mitigation Plans and Climate Adaptation Plans to ensure that wetlands are incorporated as essential green infrastructure.

Funding:

Evaluate the adoption of a blue carbon market or other incentive program to help fund wetland conservation and restoration in NJ.

Regulation:

• Review and improve wetland protection regulations to reduce drivers of degradation and destruction of high-carbon wetlands.

Knowledge gaps:

- Carbon dynamics of marsh migration
- Carbon sequestration vs. methane emission in brackish and freshwater systems

AQUATIC HABITATS



AQUATIC HABITATS

Aquatic habitats in New Jersey include freshwater resources such as rivers and lakes, coastal resources such as estuaries, and marine ecosystems in areas deeper than 50 meters.¹⁰⁸ In these ecosystems, two habitats essential for carbon sequestration and storage are submerged aquatic vegetation (SAV) beds and shellfish beds/reefs.

Coastal SAV beds in New Jersey are primarily characterized by eelgrass (Zostera marina) and widgeon grass (Ruppia maritima). SAV is one of the most productive marine ecosystems known worldwide. Submerged aquatic vegetation, like saltmarshes and mangroves, helps to mitigate climate change impacts. They are capable of taking up carbon dioxide from the atmosphere and buffering ocean acidification. The full benefits of seagrasses in mitigating climate change impacts continue to be researched to strengthen these services.

Protection and enhancement are needed for SAV habitat, which is declining globally and in New Jersey. Seagrasses are among the world's most threatened ecosystems, with annual global loss rates of seagrass extent averaging 1.5% since the beginning of the twentieth century and accelerating in recent decades. An estimated 29% of the seagrasses known to exist at the beginning of the twentieth century have disappeared, generally replaced with unvegetated, unconsolidated mud and sand soils. This rapid loss of seagrasses resulted in a substantial decrease in C sequestration by seagrass ecosystems of 6 to 24 Tg C yr-1.¹⁰⁹ Significant declines in seagrass beds have occurred in New Jersey estuaries over the last 30 years¹¹⁰ has resulted in the reduction of essential fish habitat and the potential loss of commercially and recreationally important species.¹¹¹

Considerations for all aquatic habitat targets

Co-benefits

In addition to carbon sequestration, SAV also removes nutrients from the water and provides physical stabilization of sediments. It is also a source of food and shelter to valuable nearshore communities. Healthy SAV beds provide essential habitat as the foundation for healthy stocks of fish and invertebrate species, along with successful commercial and recreational fisheries. SAV beds are important because they serve as the base of the food web, providing food to marine life throughout the ecosystem. Seagrass beds provide refuge for shellfish and finfish, while also stabilizing sediment.¹¹² They improve water quality by storing nutrients, trapping suspended sediment, and protecting shorelines by dampening wave action and currents.

SAV habitat is important for multiple life stages of different species managed in New Jersey, such as American eel, Atlantic croaker, Atlantic herring, Atlantic sturgeon, black sea bass, scup, spot, striped bass, summer flounder, and tautog. Shellfish such as oysters have the potential to sequester carbon and help to stabilize sediment and protect shorelines by buffering waves and reducing coastal erosion. In addition to dissipating wave action, shellfish improve water quality by filtering excess nutrients and sediments from the water column.

Potential Negative Impacts/Tradeoffs

Minimal tradeoffs are anticipated from strengthening the protection of SAV habitat. For coastal development projects, additional costs could arise if enhanced protections impact these projects or if stronger mitigation requirements are imposed when impacts are unavoidable. For example, regulations could be adopted that would address impacts to SAV habitat of less than one acre, which are currently permitted in some circumstances.

The siting of some wave attenuation projects and shoreline protection projects may be impacted by the nearshore presence of SAV beds. These types of projects should avoid the healthiest SAV meadows and do the utmost to avoid direct impacts to this critical habitat.

Expected Impacts of Climate Change on Carbon Sequestration

Global and local SAV has been declining for some time, largely attributed to the degradation of water quality and clarity.^{113–117} SAV distribution is expected to change as a result of sea-level rise, with impacts such as alteration of growth

rates, shifts in distribution, and changes in sexual reproduction, as well as others.¹¹⁸ The impacts of rising water temperatures and water levels will be even greater without improving water quality. By increasing water quality targets at the local and regional levels, managers can offset SAV losses caused by increasing temperatures and water depth. Only by adopting such an integrative perspective can SAV be protected and restored.¹¹⁹

Environmental Justice Considerations

Protection of this valuable habitat would have a positive effect on all of New Jersey's citizens, including those in Environmental Justice communities. The potential for carbon storage in SAV will offset greenhouse gas emissions, and protection will ensure available habitat for many life stages of fish. This is especially important to the families and individuals that rely on subsistence fishing in OBCs.

Aquatic Habitat Recommendations for Land Management Practices

SAV Monitoring Target (AQ1)

• Assess SAV acreage, density, carbon sequestration, and health with ongoing monitoring

Monitoring is fundamental to quantifying and determining trends in the density and spatial extent of existing seagrass beds in New Jersey. Monitoring will generally include acquisition of aerial photography, field validation, and an assessment of SAV health parameters. The availability of satellite imagery has been explored as a more cost-effective tool for mapping and monitoring of the areal extent of seagrass beds with a high degree of accuracy. The health parameter assessment will measure aboveground and belowground biomass, canopy complexity, microalgal cover, macroalgal cover, and sediment organic content. This SAV health data will inform modeling, which will potentially allow resource managers to link SAV health to specific environmental conditions and refine their predictive abilities. This will also allow resource managers to respond to SAV impacts sooner.

How the target was developed

The most recent effort to map SAV within New Jersey was completed in the summer of 2023, and new maps will be created in order to identify the presence of eelgrass, widgeon grass, and macroalgae throughout the Barnegat Bay to Little Egg Harbor. In addition to mapping statewide, monitoring will be a key tool in understanding the health and distribution of SAV beds in the years to come. Monitoring is a critical element in any efforts to study and conserve marine habitats such as submerged aquatic vegetation. In order to respond to losses of SAV, there is a need to understand the current status of SAV in New Jersey waters. Monitoring will also indicate areas of interest for restoration efforts, as well as furthering our understanding of blue carbon storage capabilities.

Near-term actions

- Obtain funding and contractors to conduct an SAV aerial survey with field validation every one to two years.
- Secure funding for monitoring SAV health parameters.
- Measure carbon sequestration in New Jersey seagrass beds.

SAV Conservation Target (AQ2)

• Limit SAV loss to 10% between now and 2030 then maintain no net loss through 2050.

Protecting existing SAV from further loss may maintain carbon storage. After determining a baseline for SAV, the target is to limit losses to 10% through 2030, then maintain no net loss through 2050.

How the target was developed

Data demonstrate a 62% loss of SAV in the southern portion of the Barnegat Bay from 1975 to 2000^{120} , while a broader assessment of seagrasses in NJ indicated a 2000- to 3000-ha loss during that same time period.¹¹² The Barnegat Bay accommodates ~75% of all of NJ's seagrass. Further, global losses of SAV since 1980 are estimated at about one-third.¹¹⁶ Further studies of carbon storage in NJ seagrass beds are necessary to better understand the actual potential for sequestration.

Near-term actions

- Prioritize SAV conservation in areas where it is vulnerable, such as in dredging areas associated with waterfront development projects, areas with heavy boat traffic, and areas with poor water quality.
- Launch an outreach program to educate the public about the value of SAV and how they can help to protect it.

SAV Restoration Target (AQ3)

• Establish an acre-specific goal for SAV restoration with a target to be met before 2030.

Restoration of NJ's seagrass beds is important to enhance and maintain the ecosystem services they provide and to reduce and mitigate threats and damage to existing seagrass beds. Successful restoration will offer a potential to sequester atmospheric CO2. Once a baseline is established through monitoring, NJDEP can set an acre-specific goal for restoration with a target to be met before 2030. However, conservation over restoration should be prioritized, as restoration can be costly and challenging. More research is needed to understand how restoration practices for SAV can be successfully implemented within the state.

How the target was developed

The target to limit SAV loss to 10% was set based on extrapolated losses in the Barnegat Bay. When statewide data is available, this target should be revisited.

Near-term actions

- Establish a baseline for SAV acreage and density through aerial surveys.
- Conduct research on best practices for SAV restoration within New Jersey waters.
- Develop SAV restoration guidance for best practices, adaptive management strategies, and success criteria.
- Create an SAV alliance advisory group to better coordinate SAV conservation and restoration efforts throughout the state and the region.

Aquatic Habitat Recommendations for Policy Changes

Policy recommendations focus on regulations and mitigation.

Regulation: New land use regulations to promote SAV protection can work in tandem with new programs and policies. Adopt and implement more stringent water quality and clarity standards would support improved SAV habitat.

Mitigation: Adopt regulations that require compensatory mitigation for all impacts to SAV habitats to strengthen SAV protection in an effort to incentivize applicants to take all necessary steps to accommodate SAV habitat in their project design and construction.

Research: Investigate the net carbon flux of shellfish in New Jersey, including but not limited to oysters, hard clams, surf clams, and scallops.

Knowledge Gaps:

- Best practices for SAV restoration
- Facilitate research to assess the carbon sequestration of shellfish farming and reefs

AGRICULTURAL LAND



AGRICULTURAL LAND

Agricultural croplands and pasturelands in New Jersey cover about 750,000 acres, or about 12 percent of the land area, according to the 2022 United States Department of Agriculture, National Agricultural Statistics Service.¹²¹

These important working lands significantly contribute to the state's economy, with agricultural products contributing over \$1.2 billion in 2020.¹²² In addition to providing agricultural products, agricultural land provides habitat services. There are around 411,000 acres of agricultural land in New Jersey where the practices described below could be implemented.

Considerations for all agricultural targets

Co-benefits

The targets for agricultural land include applying compost, planting cover crops, and a suite of other land management practices such as rotational grazing, agroforestry, and alley cropping. While these practices have been selected for their carbon sequestration potential, there are other benefits associated with each practice. Applying compost to cropland has several co-benefits, such as a reduction in food waste entering landfills. Composting can also aid in animal waste and nutrient management. Using compost provides a supplemental nutrient source, reducing the need to use synthetic fertilizers. Soil health also benefits from composting, as increased soil organic matter fosters healthier plants with improved pest and disease resistance. Compost application at a rate of 20 tons per acre (about 1/4" depth) results in higher, more consistent yields, lower nutrient and water demands, and a decrease in pest and disease pressures.¹²³

Cover crops not only help to sequester more carbon, but they also help improve soil health by reducing compaction, increasing porosity and water retention, and enhancing microbial diversity, which in turn reduces the need for fertilizers. Utilizing cover crops in a rotation can help to alleviate pest and disease pressure. Cover crops also suppress weed growth, decrease erosion and soil loss, and moderate soil temperatures. They can benefit livestock when used for forage. Economically, cover crops can protect from market volatility instead of relying solely on cash crops and reduce the need for costly fertilizers and pesticides.

Potential negative impacts/tradeoffs

In certain situations, there can be negative impacts associated with some of these practices. Depending on management, cover crops could take some crop land out of production, sacrifice crop yields, require investment in new/alternative production equipment, annual purchase of seed and associated learning curves. Further, return on investment may not be immediately realized, since this practice is aimed towards improving soil health, which can require multiple crop seasons. These factors when collectively considered could have a negative economic impact on farmers.

Compost provides nutrients that would otherwise come from synthetic fertilizers. However, the nutrients from compost are not immediately available for plant uptake. Therefore, compost must be applied further in advance than synthetic fertilizers.

The placement of composting facilities will be important, as improper placement close to wetlands or open water could result in nutrient leaching. Further, compost may be contaminated with heavy metals, organic pollutants, phosphorus, and weed seeds. The compost type, determined by initial ingredients (carbon and nitrogen sources), composting method, and length of curing, should be carefully selected based on the type of crop it will be used for, and timing of application. Further, analytical testing of compost could be used to understand nutrient content of the compost. On-site retention of plant residual would also prevent contamination from products being brought in from off-site.

Expected Impacts of Climate Change on Carbon Sequestration

Increasing temperatures and changes in climate patterns could influence an increase in pest and disease pressures, alter soil nutrient cycling via microbial populations and limit the types of crops that can be grown. These changes can

also affect planting times and hinder the implementation of cover crop rotations due to competing resources and time for planting cash crops. Limiting the quantity and quality of the types of plants that could be grown could decrease plant biomass deposition on soil, ultimately reducing sequestration.

Environmental Justice Considerations

The siting process of composting facilities must consider the cumulative environmental burden in a community, especially if the community is overburdened, and include mitigation measures to avoid or minimize disproportionate impacts to said OBC. In addition, monitoring must confirm that there are no significant levels of contaminants in the compost material before application.

Agricultural Recommendations for Land Management Practices

Soil health can be quantified by assessing three components of soil, physical structure, biological nature and chemical constituents. Two of the leading practices that improve soil health are applying compost and implementation of cover crops within cropping rotations. Further, beneficial application of cover crops must consider effective management of plant residues, diversifying cover crop mixtures, and delaying, as practical for the operation, timing of cover crop termination. These practices are most effective when used in combination with other management measures, many of which are already being implemented.

Applying compost as a soil amendment can help to improve soil structure and drainage, decreasing soil erosion. Compost application can also improve soil health by adding nutrients, improving the prevalence of beneficial microorganisms, and increasing soil organic matter (SOM) content.

Compost is the process of controlled decomposition and is incredibly diverse. Compost types are differentiated by the types and quantities of feedstocks, and or, ingredients, which contain specific carbon to nitrogen (C:N) ratios, cellulose, and hemicellulose content. Feedstock materials can consist of various organic materials that will provide desired C:N ratio specifically intended for the type of cropping application. Carbon-rich feedstocks include woodchips, sawdust, cardboard, cereal grain hulls, and deciduous shade-tree leaves. Animal manures, vegetative wastes (grass clippings, food scraps), and coffee grounds are examples of nitrogen-based materials that can be utilized.

The quality of a compost is distinguished by the quality and ratio of feedstocks utilized, composting method, and time cured. Cured composts have different C:N ratios. Higher carbon concentrations favor a material that is more fungal dominant, preferred for perennial cropping systems.¹²⁴ A mixture with lower carbon content creates a more bacterially dominant compost, a mixture that is preferred in annual cropping systems due to its higher content of plant-available nitrogen. Compost application is beneficial for carbon sequestration because it amends soil by facilitating an increase in organic matter (OM) content, as well as fulvic and humic acids (longer-term carbon compounds), which are formed during the decomposition, mineralization, and immobilization of organic materials. Further, soil microorganisms are stimulated and replenished. Quality compost enhances soil conditions and can improve plant growth.¹²⁵

Annual application of compost can increase soil organic matter (SOM) content by 1%, utilizing a rate of 20 tons per acre (about ¼" application depth). However, a soil's capacity to increase and store OM largely depends on soil texture (sand, silt, loam), temporal precipitation and temperature conditions, mineral composition, pH, and land-use history. Soils with higher clay content can accumulate carbon more rapidly. Clay soils have slower rates of OM decomposition, and greater propensity to store SOC. Conversely, sandy soils display vastly lower rates of carbon accumulation, storage, rapid OM decomposition, and mineralization of SOM.¹²⁶ Compost can be applied to cropland that is harvested, held in temporary pasture, and held permanently in pasture to improve soil quality and facilitate greater carbon sequestration.

Biochar can be added as a complement to traditional compost. Biochar can be produced utilizing various types of feedstock materials, some of which include, straw, crop residues (corn stalks, grain hulls), wood chips or manure. The selected feedstock will then undergo pyrolosis, a process that heats the biomass under oxygen deprived conditions. This process is distinct from open burning, since over 50% of the initial carbon biomass is retained, and because of the higher temperatures used in pyrolosis (600-1000 degrees Celsius), less smoke and other volatiles are emitted.

Application of biochar in field soils can increase soil organic matter content, alleviate soil compaction, decrease loss of applied nutrients, improve soil water holding capacity and enhance populations of beneficial soil microbes. The material has shown promise, when combined with other BMP's, to be an effective tool towards achieving net-negative emissions in agriculture. Studies have observed a reduction in nitrous oxide, methane and carbon dioxide soil emissions, 78%, 92% and 85% respectively, when biochar was applied in combination with other soil amendments.¹²⁷

Agricultural Land Management Practices

Compost Cropland Harvested Target (AG1)

• Apply compost to 4,150 acres per year of cropland harvested through 2030, then 12,700 acres per year through 2050

"Cropland harvested" refers to agricultural lands on which cash crops are grown and harvested.

How the targets were developed

The compost application target for cropland harvested by 2030 was set at 1% of the total cropland in New Jersey, while the target for 2050 was set at 3% of the total cropland in the state. This equates to the following subtotals by region:

- 1. Northern NJ 750 ac/yr through 2030, 2,400 ac/yr through 2050
- 2. Central NJ 1,100 ac/yr through 2030, 3,300 ac/yr through 2050
- 3. Southern NJ 2,300 ac/yr through 2030, 7,000 ac/yr through 2050

Compost Cropland Pastured Target (AG2)

• Apply compost to 750 acres per year through 2030, then 1,950 acres per year through 2050

"Cropland pastured" refers to agricultural lands where uses rotate between cash crop harvest and livestock pasture.

How the targets were developed

The compost application target for cropland harvested by 2030 was set at 3% of the total cropland in NJ, while the target for 2050 was set at 8%. This equates to the following subtotals by region:

- 1. Northern NJ 230 ac/yr through 2030, 600 ac/yr through 2050
- 2. Central NJ 320 ac/r through 2030, 850 ac/yr through 2050
- 3. Southern NJ 200 ac/yr through 2030, 500 ac/yr through 2050

Compost Permanent Pasture Target (AG3)

• Apply compost to 2,400 acres of permanent pasture per year through 2030, then 6,500 acres per year through 2050

"Permanent pasture" is land that is not cultivated because its maximum economic potential is realized from grazing or as part of erosion control programs. Animals may or may not be part of the farm operation for this land type.

How the targets were developed

Permanent pasture: the compost application target for permanent pasture by 2030 was set at 3% of the total permanent pasture in NJ, while the 2050 target was set at 8%. This equates to the following subtotals by region:

- 1. Northern NJ 750 ac/yr through 2030, 2,000 ac/yr through 2050
- 2. Central NJ 950 ac/yr through 2030, 2,600 ac/yr through 2050
- 3. Southern NJ 700 ac/yr through 2030, 1,900 ac/yr through 2050

Near-term actions

- Create a map of cropland harvested, cropland pastured, and permanent pasture in NJ.
- Use the map to identify areas with carbon sequestration and storage potential.
- Find a funding mechanism to help support permitting of mid-scale composting.
- Explore regulatory changes to allow for outdoor composting.

- Explore regulatory changes to encourage the development of mid and small-scale composting operations.
- Collaboration with NJDEP, NJDA and Rutgers Agricultural Extension towards the development of regulatory plain language guidance for food waste composting and its end use on agricultural lands.

Cover Crop Targets for Cropland Harvested and Cropland Pastured (AG4)

• Plant cropland harvested and cropland pastured with cover crops, for a total of 9,850 acres by 2030 then 40,300 acres by 2050

Cover crops help to stabilize topsoil between cash crop growing seasons and sequester carbon from the atmosphere as part of photosynthesis. Cover crops are typically terminated before planting cash crops. Proper timing of cover crop termination is important to the success of this practice. Mechanical termination is one alternative to traditional herbicide termination.

Cover crops add aboveground and belowground biomass (roots), which enhances soil organic matter content and soil organic carbon under tillage systems and exposes the soil to fewer cultivation passes. The rate and extent of carbon storage are determined by a soil's physical and chemical properties, along with the climactic conditions of that region.¹²⁸ Carbon sequestration in sandier soils is limited but can be enhanced by selecting cover crops that accumulates high proportions of above and belowground biomass.¹²⁹ Extending the time before termination of cover crops and employing effective plant/cover crop residue management positively impact carbon storage. Crop Residue management (CRM) refers to an agricultural conservation practice that aims to reduce the intensity and frequency of field tillage operations, while also retaining portions of plant material (previous cash crop or cover crop) on the soil's surface.¹³⁰ CRM is designed with the intent of protecting soil from damage caused by erosive forces, compaction, and to increase the deposition of organic matter.¹³¹ Incorporating cover crop mixtures by using a combination of grass and forbs species, is another practice that can effectively increase soil carbon content.¹³²

Residue management is defined by how the producer, prior to planting the cash crop, utilizes the cover crop biomass (crop residue) grown in the field. Management techniques will depend on the types of cover crop(s) terminated, cropping system, equipment, and field conditions. 130 Options for managing residues could include incorporation via cultivation, retention of residue (most frequently associated with a no-till operation), or a combination of the two. Management choices can significantly impact the amount of carbon sequestered by these practices.¹³³ Crop residues retained on the soil surface have shown minimal contribution to long-term soil carbon stores. However, root biomass (belowground residue) provides a direct input for carbon storage and slower rates of decay.¹³⁴

How the targets were developed

Data from the 2020 USDA Census of Agriculture¹³⁵ was used to approximate the following baseline values, which were then increased to set region-specific targets:

- 1. In northern NJ, the baseline for cover crops is 0.7% of cropland harvested and cropland pastured. This value was scaled up to 1.5% of land (1,250 ac/yr) by 2030, and 10% of land (8,300 ac/yr) by 2050.
- 2. In central NJ, the baseline for cover crops is 1.4% of cropland harvested and cropland pastured. This value was scaled up to 2% of land (2,200 ac/yr) by 2030, and 10% of land (10,800 ac/yr) by 2050.
- 3. In southern NJ, the baseline for cover crops is 2.03% of cropland harvested and cropland harvested. This value was scaled up to 3% of land (6,400 ac/yr) by 2030, and 10% of land (21,200 ac/yr) by 2050.

Other agricultural land management practices that benefit carbon sequestration

There are several other ways to improve carbon sequestration in the agricultural sector. For livestock, pasture restoration, and fallowed cropland, such practices include rotational grazing, seeding select areas warm-season grasses, and diversification of cover crop mixes with perennial grains.

2024 NEW JERSEY NATURAL AND WORKING LANDS STRATEGY

Rotational grazing involves a management system that allows livestock to graze only a portion of pasture while the remainder "rests." The pasture is subdivided into a series of smaller grazing areas (paddocks), and livestock are regularly moved from one paddock to another. In contrast, the conventional continuous grazing system, which is the most common, allows livestock access to pastured areas for long durations of the season. In rotational grazing, the number of paddocks, sizing, and configuration for each system can vary and will depend on the size of the pasture, livestock type, water access, and desired management objectives. Further, rotational intensity requires consideration of the types of pasture forage (forbs and grasses), variability of forage growth, herd size, seasonal growing constraints, and cumulative precipitation. There are many benefits to adopting these systems, not only from a plant and soil health perspective but also from a production efficiency and economic standpoint. Allocating rest periods to areas of pasture to stress (drought, compaction, weed competition) and reduce soil erosion caused by overgrazing. Root access to soil mineral nutrients will provide higher nutritional quality to animals and improve the herd. Animal manures in these systems are more evenly distributed. Manure falls on the field and allows the return of nutrients directly into the soil, increasing soil OM content and reducing the need for fertilizer inputs.

Warm-season grasses are recommended for permanent pasture because they will better tolerate increasing temperatures from climate change. Seeding these varieties will enhance plant survival and, once established, produce large amounts of biomass. These native grasses can be applied as a complement to cool season grass pastures.¹³⁶

Agro-forestry is an approach that utilizes numerous management practices, combining the cultivation of trees and shrubs with crops and livestock. These intensive practices are designed to allow additional plant growth on farms to sequester more carbon, creating many ancillary benefits for the crops, livestock, and the environment. Recommendations for agro-forestry include facilitating research of commercial scale projects and researching the net-GHG benefits of agro-forestry. NJDA should collaborate with the NJ Forest Service and the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA)-Natural Resource Conservation Service (NRCS) to develop and encourage producer enrollment in existing programs that provide technical and financial assistance for the implementation of agro-forestry practices on farms. There are many practices that can be implemented within an agro-forestry system. The design and implementation of these systems are often site-specific, have flexibility and the ability to incorporate multiple practices within the same site. Each approach has varying degrees of management intensity and commercial scaling ability. The recognized systems include alley cropping, silvopasture, riparian buffers, forest farming, and windbreaks.

Alley cropping is a practice that combines trees planted in single or multiple rows with agricultural or horticultural crops cultivated between tree rows. Riparian buffers can include forested buffers or areas, strips of grass, forbs, and shrub vegetation. These areas of permanent vegetation consist of trees, shrubs, and grasses and are commonly planted or managed adjacent to water bodies (lakes, wetlands, ponds, streams, or rivers), providing protection from erosion and non-point source pollution. Silvopasture integrates livestock and forestry by combining trees with forage (pasture) production, increasing carbon storage over traditional pasture. Silvopasture systems can be established by adding trees to an existing pasture or by thinning an existing forest stand. Windbreaks and variations of this practice (hedgerows, shelterbelts, timber-belts, and living snow-fences) are planted and managed as part of a crop or livestock operation. Cropping systems utilize this practice to protect plants that are sensitive to wind.¹³⁷ Forest farming is a method of production for high-value specialty crops, which are cultivated under the protection of a forest overstory. The forest has been modified to provide sustained timber production or induce a particular micro-climate condition. Crops commonly cultivated utilizing this methodology include shade-tolerant plants such as ginseng, medicinal botanicals, decorative ferns, and shiitake mushrooms.

Agricultural Recommendations for Policy Changes

Targets were developed utilizing existing USDA National Agriculture Statistics Service Census Data.¹²¹ Though the current census information is thoroughly reported and documented, staff recognize the need for a more extensive questionnaire format. This could help determine which of the following practices are already being implemented such that "early adopters" can be adequately compensated. A more extensive questionnaire format could further identify the needs of our producers, establish parameters for further research, and elucidate pathways for funding and incentives.

2024 NEW JERSEY NATURAL AND WORKING LANDS STRATEGY

The U.S. Department of Agriculture encourages climate-smart agriculture practices and provides specific funding opportunities for adopting these practices. Climate-smart practices "aim at conserving soil moisture, retaining crop residues for soil fertility, disturbing the soil as minimally as possible, and diversifying through rotation or intercropping." NJDA can work to encourage the adoption of climate-smart practices by developing cooperatives for producers and working with NRCS to increase the number of available Technical Service Providers who provide access to conservation assistance. Recommendations include securing or providing funding assistance for practices that increase soil health, climate-smart practices, and insuring farmers who change practices to increase carbon sequestration. One additional way to adapt to a changing climate is to initiate a state-specific breeding initiative for cover crops and cash crops. Selecting breeds that are best suited to New Jersey's current and future climate will help to ensure the success of these crops.

Knowledge gaps

- NJDA should gather baseline data on where climate-smart practices are already occurring, provide education and outreach to interested producers, and provide financial incentives for adopting rotational grazing and seeding warm-season grasses.
- NJDEP should also assess and consider updating its organic and food waste and composting regulations to revisit the organic requirements and the criteria that classify food waste and composting facilities.

DEVELOPED LAND



DEVELOPED LAND

34 percent of New Jersey's land area is covered by urban or developed lands. While much of that land area is occupied by buildings, roads, and other infrastructure, the shade trees, vegetated green spaces and green stormwater infrastructure mixed among the built structures have an outsized benefit for their relatively small area providing important services for communities and the environment. Benefits include decreased temperatures, improved aesthetics, and access to recreation. After adjusting to 2020 values, these urban and developed spaces are valued at \$388 per acre annually or \$575 million per year in 2004⁶⁰ by improving air and water quality, mitigating runoff from rainfall and flooding, reducing noise impacts, providing shade and cooler temperatures for communities, mitigating the impacts of urban heat island effect, and enhancing overall human health and well-being. These services can provide help provide essential relief to communities disproportionately impacted by climate change and mitigate other environmental justice concerns such as air and water pollution. The 178.7 million trees located within New Jersey's urban areas store approximately 26.9 million metric tons of carbon, and urban forests alone sequester about 1.03 million metric tons of carbon every year.² As a result, the US Climate Alliance rates urban and community forests within the top five natural climate solutions in New Jersey when it comes to carbon sequestration potential.

Considerations for all developed land targets

Creating and enhancing open space and improving urban lands are goals for developed lands. Much of the existing developed lands are covered in impervious surfaces and currently have a low potential for carbon sequestration without intervention and improvements. Green infrastructure elements, such as rain gardens and vegetative swales, can be easily added to developed lands to better manage stormwater runoff and flooding, and adding other co-benefits, such as carbon sequestration and help in mitigating urban heat island impacts. Street trees and other shade trees also provide carbon sequestration and some relief from urban heat island impacts, while tree trenches and tree boxes have the added benefit of managing stormwater runoff in impervious areas.

Green infrastructure practices have been around for years to aid in reducing local urban flooding, manage stormwater flows that enter sewage treatment plants, and treat stormwater before discharge directly to surface water bodies. More recently, green infrastructure has been valued for its other benefits, including addressing urban heat island impacts and its role in sequestering carbon. Provided that carbon sequestration projects on currently developed lands are wellplanned and well-maintained, an increase in carbon sequestration should be attained.

Brownfield sites and other polluted sites typically have contaminated soils and/or historic fill that was contaminated before it was added to the site, necessitating remediation as part of site redevelopment. These sites are also commonly dominated by impervious surface cover and provide less carbon sequestration than vegetated sites with pervious surfaces. To remediate these sites, contaminated soils are often removed or capped with clean fill and topsoil to provide a healthy substrate for tree growth and vegetative cover. By cleaning up the soil where needed and transforming these abandoned properties into green spaces, there is potential to add carbon through plant and tree capture, as well as in amended soils, while improving stormwater management. In addition to these co-benefits, cleaning up contaminated sites eliminates sources of pollution.

Co-benefits

The co-benefits of rain gardens are numerous, including improved stormwater management to help mitigate flooding and improve water quality, reduced heat and heat island effects, improved local air quality, creation of wildlife habitat, and beautification of neighborhoods leading to higher economic value of surrounding properties. Overburdened communities can especially benefit from rain gardens as these areas have some of the greatest climate-related impacts and have the least amount of resources to mitigate the impacts of climate change. Vegetated swales bring similar benefits.

2024 NEW JERSEY NATURAL AND WORKING LANDS STRATEGY

Trees provide many of the same benefits as rain gardens. All trees aid in nutrient and rainwater uptake, however tree trenches and tree boxes have an advantage over street trees, because they drain excess rainwater into a retention system. Brownfield sites that are converted into green spaces can provide many of these same benefits.

Brownfield sites are typically abandoned or underutilized industrial or commercial properties with high proportion of impervious surface coverage. Transforming brownfield sites into green open spaces can address many environmental and public health stressors in communities, including mitigate stormwater and/or tidal flooding, improved air quality, ameliorate urban heat temperatures, and improve public health outcomes. Reuse of brownfield sites also removes blighted areas of neighborhoods that improve the social and economic conditions in communities, including raising property values in the surrounding neighborhood and to provide valuable recreational opportunities. Co-benefits include remediation of contaminated sites include new plantings, soil remediation and amendments, improved stormwater management, reduction of heat (and heat island effects), better local air quality, increased the health of local people & wildlife, creating new wildlife habitat in developed areas, improving water quality in local waterways, lowering crime rates (DOI: 10.1093/aje/kwx096), beautification of neighborhood (leading to higher economic value of surrounding properties), and the ability to be implemented into small (crowded) developed spaces.

Potential Negative Impacts/Tradeoffs

Streets and sidewalks will need to be temporarily closed while installing rain gardens, planting street trees, or transforming brownfields. Communities will need to pay for the operation and maintenance of new parks, and for ongoing street tree maintenance to prevent damage to sidewalks, vehicles, and homes. Other property owners will need to maintain rain gardens, vegetative swales and other improvements on newly redeveloped lands. Brownfield redevelopment can be a catalyst for gentrification of distressed communities, so planning for those impacted by rising land values and rents should be considered for areas that undergo large-scale brownfield redevelopment.

Expected Impacts of Climate Change on Carbon Sequestration

Increased occurrence and duration of drought conditions from climate change may necessitate additional watering to keep plants in rain gardens and green spaces alive. Shifting ranges of flora and pests will necessitate careful selection of plants and trees. Native plant species should be planted to support local wildlife and provide root systems suited for the amount of precipitation that this region receives. Provided that the developed land carbon sequestration project is well-planned and well-maintained, increased temperatures and increased precipitation should allow for robust and increased carbon sequestration over time.

Additionally, many of the expected impacts of climate changes, including increased temperatures and increased local flooding from more intense precipitation events, will impact developed lands more than natural and other working lands. Therefore, from a social and environmental equity lens, developed lands should receive strong consideration for carbon sequestration projects, especially ones that have demonstrated co-benefits.

Environmental Justice Considerations

There are environmental justice concerns related to the burden of improvements. EJ communities typically have limited funds to maintain improvements such as new parks, rain gardens, vegetative swales, and street trees. Dedicated funding streams should be considered as part of project selection in these areas to ensure the maintenance of the improvements and investments in carbon sequestration.

For example, with respect to urban tree planting, despite the benefits of street trees, many residents in OBC's have concerns about the risks and costs assumed by residents over the course of a tree's life, the threat of gentrification associated with trees, limited plantable space, limited capacity for community members and leaders to take on planting and maintenance, and concerns about tree disservices (broken sidewalks, dangerous limbs, etc.).¹³⁸ It is imperative that tree planting goals within OBC's are discussed with community members and leaders prior to their implementation, and that support is granted to these communities for the long-term needs of tree stewardship.

There may also be concerns about gentrification in areas that undergo large-scale brownfield redevelopment activities. Good local redevelopment planning, and the use of equitable development principles should be part of the brownfield redevelopment activities so those impacted by rising land values and rents can remain in these communities undergoing broad revitalization and gentrification.

Overall, developed areas, including OBCs will significantly benefit from climate-related investments across the state. These communities will especially benefit from local investments in carbon sequestration and other climate-related projects as these communities are currently experiencing many of the worst climate-related impacts, including increased air temperatures, poor air quality, stormwater flooding, and tidal flooding events. From an environmental and social justice perspective, these EJ communities should be prioritized for carbon sequestration and other beneficial climaterelated investments.

Developed Land Management Practices

Afforestation Target (DL1)

• Plant and maintain 250,000 street and shade trees by 2030, and 1,000,000 trees by 2050

Afforestation of urban communities is recommended, with practices including the planting of street trees and other shade trees. Urban tree planting can maximize carbon benefits by planting the right tree species in the right places, and planting them on open soils or enhanced soil treatments. Urban and street tree placement is of the utmost importance as it ensures that tree growth and lifespan will not be impaired by power and phone lines, or by impervious surfaces like roads and sidewalks. This afforestation goal overlaps with the Forestry section, with the New Jersey Forest Service managing the state's Urban and Community Forests.

How the target was developed

The targets to plant 250,000 street and shade trees by 2030, and 1,000,000 trees by 2050, are set at high values based on the tree planting targets of surrounding states, and the variety of tree planting grant programs already in existence in the state.

Near-term actions

- Develop partnerships with communities interested in installing street trees tree trenches, and tree boxes.
- Identify funding sources and facilitate grants for tree planting.

Promote Urban Forests and Street Trees Through Stewardship Target (DL2)

• Enroll all municipalities that are eligible in Urban Stewardship programs by 2050.

Within urban and community forests, strategies can be implemented that maintain the health and safety of existing mature trees, thus protecting the existing urban forest carbon pool. The Urban and Community Forestry Program accomplishes this by encouraging municipalities and residents with trees on their private property to care for their trees through drought, by reducing pressure from insects and disease, and by performing structural and maintenance pruning. Such measures ensure that trees can establish quickly, grow to their full potential, and safely provide the maximum amount of ecosystem service benefits throughout their lifetime. UCF will encourage local governments to manage across and above municipal and county lines to maximize local forest, street tree, and park tree survivorship.2

How the target was developed

Currently, the NJ Forest Service's Urban and Community Forestry program has 254 approved management plans for enrolled municipalities in the state, meaning that approximately 45% of all municipalities in the State are enrolled in the program. NJ Forest Service aims to expand the program to support all municipalities in New Jersey in caring for their trees.

Near-term actions

• Enhance stewardship by annually developing 10 new municipality management plans, 10 new or updated inventory grants, and CORE training for 100 participating individuals.

- Continue to provide annual grants for tree planting & resiliency planning.
- Implement a consistent state-wide urban tree/forest inventory program.
- Expand Urban and Community Forestry grants program for urban tree planting & maintenance

Brownfield Redevelopment Target (DL3)

Transform 20 brownfield sites or known contaminated sites (100 total acres) into green open space by 2030, and 200 sites (1,000 total acres) by 2050.

In urban areas of NJ there is a large inventory of vacant residential lands, brownfields, and contaminated sites available for improvement. Brownfields are vacant or underutilized former industrial or commercial sites that are presumed to be contaminated. They are typically characterized by impervious surfaces, abandoned buildings, and compacted soils. Under these conditions, there is little carbon sequestration, and the developed land does not serve a productive social or economic purpose.

Known contaminated sites and brownfield sites are found throughout the state, with a higher density occurring in older urbanized areas. There are currently about 14,000 known contaminated sites in the state, and potentially over 10,000 currently vacant or underutilized commercial or industrial brownfield sites. This type of land conversion eliminates sources of pollution while increasing the amount of carbon sequestered per unit area through new vegetation growth and enhanced soils. Contaminated compacted soils and/or impervious surface cover is typically removed at these sites and clean soil and topsoil is often placed on the remediated areas.

How the target was developed

The targets to transform 20 brownfield sites or known contaminated sites at a minimum of 100 acres into green open space by 2030 and 200 sites at a minimum of 1,000 acres by 2050 are constrained due to the current costs of remediation and redevelopment of these projects.

Near-term actions

- Update inventory brownfield sites that can be targeted for open space creation.
- Identify and improve funding opportunities to support the transformation of brownfield sites into open spaces.

Enhance Local Parks and Urban Schoolyards Target (DL4)

• Enhance older parks and urban schoolyards at 20 sites (50 total acres) by 2030 and 100 sites (250 total acres) by 2050.

Enhancement of local parks and urban schoolyards is recommended, as many older parks in developed areas could be improved with new plantings and soil amendments to improve tree growth and enhance recreational opportunities. Some of the existing urban parks are contaminated and will need to be remediated before they are enhanced. Additionally, there are many urban schoolyards that consist primarily of impervious surfaces that could be improved. This land enhancement can increase the amount of carbon sequestered per unit area through new vegetation growth and enhanced soils. These restored parks and schoolyards are essential community assets, and improving these areas will greatly improve the local quality of life.

How the target was developed

The target to enhance older parks and urban schools was developed by collaborative work the NJDEP Office of Brownfield and Community Revitalization is doing with local communities. Based on recent successes in Camden, the target for enhancing older parks and urban schoolyards is 20 sites (50 total acres) by 2030, and 100 sites (250 total acres) by 2050. The opportunities to enhance older parks and urban schoolyards are constrained due to the cost of investigation and possible remediation of these sites, and the cost of new playground equipment and new park features.

Near-term actions

- Work with overburdened communities on an inventory of older parks and urban schoolyards.
- Identify and improve funding opportunities to support open space and schoolyard improvements.

Soil Amendment Target (DL5)

Amend soil through site remediation on 500 acres of land in developed areas by 2030 and 5,000 acres by 2050

When contaminated sites are cleaned up, soil is often removed or capped with clean fill and topsoil. The clean fill and topsoil are placed in landscaped areas of the redeveloped site to provide a healthy substrate for tree growth and vegetative cover. Soils can be further amended with the addition of organic material to improve vegetative growth. On urban restoration sites, afforestation has been found to increase soil carbon storage compared to degraded urban soils.¹³⁹ One advantage of this practice is its ability to be implemented in small, densely developed spaces.

Amendment is the process of incorporating materials into the soil to change properties such as drainage, soil structure, and rooting depth. Compost is a common amendment that can come from biosolids, manures, and yard or wood waste. Biosolids and manures are characterized by higher levels of nutrients such as nitrogen compared to vegetative waste. Compost is typically screened to remove large clumps before soil incorporation. For areas to be sodded, after on-site construction traffic has ended, compost is spread evenly over the surface to a depth of just over an inch. The area should then be tilled to a depth of 6 to 8 inches. For individual plants or trees, the planting holes should be individually amended with compost.¹⁴⁰ The goal is to improve growing conditions for vegetation by increasing available nutrients, while improving soil structure to improve water retention and allow roots to grow deeper, thereby sequestering additional carbon.

How the target was developed

The targets to amend soil through site remediation on 500 acres of land in developed areas by 2030 and 5,000 acres by 2050 were established based in part on the long-term historic rate of remediation. The opportunities to promote soil remediation with clean fill and topsoil improvements during the site remediation process are constrained by staff time to work more closely with responsible entities, private developers, municipal officials, and Licensed Site Remediation Professionals (LSRPs).

Near-term actions

• Work closely with responsible entities, private developers, municipal officials, and LSRPs in the development community to ensure that sites undergoing redevelopment enhance the existing soil conditions with soil amendments as part of the remediation activities.

Developed Land Recommendations for Policy Changes

NJDEP will focus on two priority areas for developed land - funding and research.

- NJDEP will identify external and internal funding sources to aid development of carbon sequestration projects such as brownfield redevelopment, park creation, enhancement of older parks and schoolyards, urban land restoration, green infrastructure, vegetative swales, street trees, and soil amendments.
- Research is needed to better quantify the carbon sequestration potential of developed lands. Research is also recommended to build further understanding of the many co-benefits of these projects in developed land areas.

Knowledge Gaps

- Studying carbon sequestration rates of improvements on developed lands.
- Research is needed to better quantify the carbon sequestration potential of developed lands. Research is also recommended to build further understanding of the many co-benefits of these projects in developed land areas.
- Evaluating the social, economic, and public health co-benefits of carbon sequestration projects in urban and EJ communities.

WORKS CITED

1. Executive Order 274, 6 (2021). https://nj.gov/infobank/eo/056murphy/pdf/EO-274.pdf

2. New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. (2020). New Jersey State Forest Action Plan. <u>https://nj.gov/dep/parksandforests/forest/njsfap/docs/njsfap-final-12312020.pdf</u>

3. Scott, M., & Lindsey, R. (2022). NOAA Climate.gov: Understanding blue carbon. <u>https://www.climate.gov/news-features/understanding-climate/understanding-blue-carbon#:~:text=Blue carbon is any carbon,surge protection%2C and local economies.</u>

4. N.J.S.A. 58:10B-23.d. https://www.nj.gov/dep/srp/regs/statutes/bcsra.pdf

5. Norma, C., & Kreye, M. (2023). PennState Extension - Carbon Markets 101. <u>https://extension.psu.edu/carbon-markets-101</u>

6. NAO 216-123: NOAA Mitigation Policy for Trust Resources, (2022). https://www.noaa.gov/organization/administration/noaa-administrative-orders-chapter-216-programmanagement/nao-216-123-noaa-mitigation-policy-for-trust-resources

7. US General Services Administration. (n.d.). Environmental Justice. <u>https://www.gsa.gov/reference/civil-rights-</u> programs/environmental-justice#:~:text=Environmental Justice (EJ) is the,laws%2C regulations%2C and policies.

8. Protection, N. J. D. of E. (2021). New Jersey Forest Service - Farmland Assessment. <u>https://www.nj.gov/dep/parksandforests/forest/privatelands/farmlandassessment.html</u>

9. Hines, S. J., & Daniels, A. (2011). USDA Forest Service Climate Change Resource Center - Private Forestland Stewardship. <u>https://www.fs.usda.gov/ccrc/topics/forest-stewardship</u>

10. USDA US Forest Service. (n.d.). Forest Health. Forest Health. <u>https://www.fs.usda.gov/science-technology/forest-health#:~:text=Forest health has been defined, also dependent on spatial scale.</u>

11. USDA Forest Service. (n.d.). Forest Inventory and Analysis National Program. Retrieved April 10, 2023, from https://www.fia.fs.usda.gov/

12. Merriam-Webster. (2023). Dictionary. https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/greenhouse gas

13. Virgilio, N. R., Marshall, S., Zerbock, O., & Holmes, C. (2010). Reducing emissions from deforestation and degradation (REDD): a casebook of on-the-ground experience. The Nature Conservancy. <u>https://www.un-redd.org/glossary/improved-forest-management-ifm</u>

14. Nyland, R. D. (2007). Silviculture: Concepts and Applications. Waveland Press.

15. Smith, D. M., Larson, B. C., Kelty, M. J., & Ashton, P. M. S. (1997). The Practice of Silviculture: Applied Forest Ecology (9th ed.). Wiley.

16. New Jersey Environmental Justice Law, N.J.S.A. 13:1D-157, Pub. L. No. N.J.S.A. 13:1D-157, 5 (2020). https://dep.nj.gov/wp-content/uploads/ej/docs/ej-law.pdf

17. NJDEP. (2020). New Jersey Forest Fire Service - Prescribed Burning. https://www.nj.gov/dep/parksandforests/fire/program/aboutrxb.html

18. Pinit, P. T., & Bellmer, R. J. (2000). Habitat restoration monitoring toward success: a selective annotated bibliography. <u>https://repository.library.noaa.gov/view/noaa/26621/noaa_26621_DS1.pdf?</u>

19. N.J.A.C. 7:7 Coastal Zone Management Rules, 608 (2021). <u>https://dep.nj.gov/wp-content/uploads/rules/njac7_7.pdf</u>

20. USDA U.S. Forest Service. (n.d.). Forest Service Silviculture. https://www.fs.usda.gov/forestmanagement/vegetation-management/silviculture/index.shtml

21. Davis, J. G., & Whiting, D. (2013). Choosing a Soil Amendment - 7.235. <u>https://extension.colostate.edu/topic-areas/yard-garden/choosing-a-soil-amendment/</u>

22. NOAA Fisheries. (2020). Submerged Aquatic Vegetation: A Habitat Worth SAV-ing. <u>https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/feature-story/submerged-aquatic-vegetation-habitat-worth-sav-ing#:~:text=The term</u> <u>used for a,crabs%2C and other aquatic organisms</u>

23. New Jersey Shade Tree and Community Forestry Assistance Act, 5 (1996). https://www.nj.gov/dep/parksandforests/forest/docs/cf-assistance-act.pdf

24. NJDEP New Jersey Forest Service. (2023). Urban & Community Forestry. https://www.nj.gov/dep/parksandforests/forest/urbanandcommunity/

25. Service, N. N. J. F. (2021). New Jersey Woodland Stewards Program. https://www.nj.gov/dep/parksandforests/forest/privatelands/woodlandstewards.html

26. NJDEP. (2020). New Jersey's Global Warming Response Act 80x50 Report. https://www.nj.gov/dep/climatechange/docs/nj-gwra-80x50-report-2020.pdf

27. Bralower, T. B. D. (n.d.). Earth in the Future: Carbon Dioxide Through Time.n

28. Governor Phil Murphy. (2021). Executive Order No. 274. <u>https://nj.gov/infobank/eo/056murphy/pdf/EO-274.pdf</u>

29. US Climate Alliance. (2022). Fact Sheet.

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5a4cfbfe18b27d4da21c9361/t/6321f6519adb5028800a2b9e/166317013 0030/USCA+2022+Fact+Sheet.pdf

30. US Climate Alliance. (2018). Joint Statement on North American Climate Leadership. <u>https://usclimatealliance.org/press-releases/north-america-joint-statement-global-climate-action-summit-sep-2018/</u>

31. European Commission. (2023). Climate Action - EU rules on land use, land use change and forestry (LULUCF). <u>https://climate.ec.europa.eu/eu-action/land-use-sector_en#eu-rules-on-land-use-land-use-change-and-forestry-lulucf</u>

32. HM Government. (2021). Net Zero Strategy: Build Back Greener. <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1033990/net-zero-strategy-beis.pdf</u>

33. US Climate Alliance. (2018). Natural Working Lands Learning Lab Opportunity Assessment for New Jersey.

34. The National Wildlife Federation. (n.d.). Ecosystem Services. <u>https://www.nwf.org/Educational-Resources/Wildlife-Guide/Understanding-Conservation/Ecosystem-Services</u>

35. US EPA. (2023). Report on the Social Cost of Greenhouse Gases: Estimates Incorporating Recent Scientific Advances. <u>https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2023-12/epa_scghg_2023_report_final.pdf</u>

36. Lavallee, J. (2020). Soil carbon sequestration to combat climate change - a real solution, or just hype? https://sustainability.colostate.edu/humannature/jocelyn-lavallee/

37. USDA Forest Service. (2020). Forest Inventory and Analysis Program - EVALIDator. <u>https://apps.fs.usda.gov/fiadb-api/evalidator</u>

38. Swanston, C. W., Janowiak, M. K., Brandt, L. A., Butler, P. R., Handler, S. D., Shannon, P. D., Lewis, A. D., Hall, K., Fahey, R. T., Scott, L., Kerber, A., Miesbauer, J. W., & Darling, L. (2016). Forest Adaptation Resources: climate change tools and approaches for land managers, 2nd ed.

39. Hansen, E. M. (2014). Forest development and carbon dynamics after mountain pine beetle outbreaks. Forest Science, 60(3), 476–488.

40. Hurteau, M. D., & Brooks, M. L. (2011). Short-and long-term effects of fire on carbon in US dry temperate forest systems. BioScience2, 61, 139–146.

41. Whittaker, R. H., & Likens, G. E. (1973). Carbon in the biota - in Brookhaven Symposium of Biology, vol. 30.

42. Nahlik, A. M., & Fennessy, M. S. (2016). Carbon storage in US wetlands. Nature Communications. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13835</u>

43. Moomaw, W. R., Chmura, G. L., Davies, G. T., Finlayson, C. M., Middleton, B. A., Natali, S. M., Perry, J. E., Roulet, N., & Sutton-Grier, A. E. (2018). Wetlands in a changing climate: science, policy and management. Wetlands, 38, 183–205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-018-1023-8</u>

44. Were, D., Kanslime, F., Fetahi, T., Cooper, A., & Jjuuko, C. (2019). Carbon sequestration by wetlands: A critical review of enhancement measure for climate change mitigation. Earth Systems and Environment, 3, 327–340. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41748-019-00094-0

45. Brinson, M. M., Lugo, A. E., & Brown, S. (1981). Primary productivity, decomposition and consumer activity in freshwater wetlands. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 12(1), 123–161.

46. US EPA. (2023). Understanding Global Warming Potentials. <u>https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/understanding-global-warming-potentials</u>

47. Settelmyer, S. (2018). Delaware Bay blue carbon feasibility study: Phase 2 report. Version 2.0.

48. Warnell, K., & Olander, L. (2020). Coastal protection and blue carbon: New Jersey. <u>https://nicholasinstitute.duke.edu/sites/default/files/documents/Coastal-protection-and-blue-carbon-New-Jersey-fact-sheet.pdf</u>

49. Poffenbarger, H. J., Needelman, B. A., & Megonigal, J. P. (2011). Salinity influence on methane emissions from tidal marshes. Wetlands, 31(5), 831–842.

50. Zavell, M. D., Lindahl, O., Filgueira, R., & Shumway, S. E. (2023). An Estimate of Carbon Storage Capabilities from Wild and Cultured Shellfish in the Northwest Atlantic and Their Potential Inclusion in a Carbon Economy. Journal of Shellfish Research, 42(2), 325–342.

51. Song, C., Xiong, Y., Jin, P., Sun, Y., Zhang, Q., Ma, Z., & Gao, G. (2023). Mariculture structure adjustment to achieve China's carbon neutrality and mitigate climate change. Science of The Total Environment, 895, 164986. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.164986

52. Fodrie, F., Rodriguez, A., Gittman, R., Grabowski, J., Lindquist, N., Peterson, C., Piehler, M., & Ridge, J. (2017). Oyster reefs as carbon sources and sinks. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 284(1859), 20170891.

53. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (2023). The Blue Carbon Reservoirs from Maine to Long Island, NY.

54. Post, W., Izaurralde, R., West, T., Liebig, M., & King, A. (2012). Management opportunities for enhancing terrestrial carbon dioxide sinks. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 10(10), 554–561.

55. Nowak, D. J., & Greenfield, E. J. (2018). US urban forest statistics, values, and projections. Journal of Forestry, 116(2), 164–177.

56. US EPA. (2021). Climate Change and Social Vulnerability in the United States: A Focus on Six Impacts.

57. NJDEP, NJBPU, & NJEDA. (2023). RGGI Strategic Funding Plan Years 2023-2025. https://www.nj.gov/rggi/docs/rggi-strategic-funding-plan.pdf

58. NJDEP. (2023). RGGI Natural Climate Solutions Grants - Blue and Green Carbon Projects. <u>https://www.nj.gov/dep/climatechange/mitigation/ncs-grant.html</u>

59. The College of New Jersey Sustainability Institute. (2023). Trees for Schools. https://www.sustainablejerseyschools.com/grants/trees-for-schools/

60. Costanza, R., Wilson, M. A., Troy, A., Voinov, A., Liu, S., & D'Agostino, J. (2006). The value of New Jersey's ecosystem services and natural capital. <u>http://archives.pdx.edu/ds/psu/8357</u>

61. Lathrop, R. G., & Hasse, J. E. (2016). Changing Landscapes in the Garden State: Land Use Change in NJ 1986 thru 2012.

https://crssa.rutgers.edu/projects/lc/download/NJ_Urb_Growth_III_executive_summary_2012_LathropHasse.pdf

62. Shifley, S. R., & Moser, W. K. (2016). Future forests of the northern United States. <u>https://doi.org/10.2737/nrs-gtr-151</u>

63. US Department of Homeland Security - FEMA. (2022). FEMA Ecosystem Service Value Updates. https://www.fema.gov/sites/default/files/documents/fema_ecosystem-service-value-updates_2022.pdf

64. de Groot, R., Brander, L., & Solomonides, S. (2020). Ecosystem Services Valuation Database (EVSD). https://www.es-partnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/ESVD_Global-Update-FINAL-Report-June-2020.pdf

65. NJDEP Division of Fish and Wildlife. (2019). Connecting Habitat Across New Jersey Guidance Document Version 1.0. <u>https://conservationcorridor.org/cpb/chanj-guidance-document-2019.pdf</u>

66. Akbari, H., Kurn, D. M., Bretz, S. E., & Hanford, J. W. (1997). Peak power and cooling energy savings of shade trees. Energy and Buildings, 25(2), 139–148.

67. California State Parks. (2005). The Health and Social Benefits of Recreation.

68. Aldinger, K., Bakermans, M. H., Larkin, J., Lehman, J., McNeil Jr., D. J., & Tisdale, A. (2015). Monitoring and evaluating golden-winged warbler use of breeding habitat created by the Natural Resources Conservation Services Practices: A conservation effects assessment project (CEAP).

69. Burke, A. D., Thompson, III, F. R., & Faaborg, J. (2017). Variation in early-successional habitat use among independent juvenile forest breeding birds. Wilson Journal of Ornithology, 129(2), 235–246.

70. Chandler, C. C., King, D. I., & Chandler, R. B. (2012). Do mature forest birds prefer early-successional habitat during the post-fledging period? Forest Ecology and Management, 264, 1–9.

71. DeGraaf, R. M., & Yamasaki, M. (2003). Options for managing early-successional forest and shrubland bird habitats in the northeastern United States. 185, 179–191.

72. Kelly, J. F. (2019). Regional Changes to Forest Understories Since the Mid-Twentieth Century: Effects of Overabundant Deer and Other Factors in Northern New Jersey. Forest Ecology and Management, 444, 151–162.

73. Ryan, K. C., Knapp, E. E., & Varner, J. M. (2013). Prescribed fire in North American forests and woodlands: history, current practice, and challenges. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 11(s1), e15–e24.

74. NJDEP. (2023). New Jersey Forest Fire Service. https://www.nj.gov/dep/parksandforests/fire/

75. Moghaddas, J. J., Roller, G. B., Long, J. W., Saah, D. S., Moritz, M. A., Stark, D. T., Schmidt, D. A., Buchholz, T., Freed, T. J., Alvey, E. C., & Gunn, J. S. (2018). Fuel Treatment for Forest Resilience and Climate Mitigation: A

Critical Review for Coniferous Forests of California. <u>https://www.energy.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2019-12/Forests_CCCA4-CNRA-2018-017_ada.pdf</u>

76. Martin, K. L., Hurteau, M. D., & Hungate, B. A. (2015). Carbon Tradeoffs of Restoration and Provision of Endangered Species Habitat in a Fire-Maintained Fores. Ecosystems, 18(76–88). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-014-9813-1</u>

77. Black, C., Gerriets, J. E., Fontaine, J. H., Harper, R. W., Kenyon, N. J., Tablin, F., & Miller, L. A. (2017). Early life wildfire smoke exposure is associated with immune dysregulation and lung function decrements in adolescence. American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology, 56(5), 657–666.

78. Liu, J. C., Pereira, G., Uhl, S. A., Bravo, M. A., & Bell, M. L. (2015). A systematic review of the physical health impacts from non-occupational exposure to wildfire smoke. Environmental Research, 136, 120–132.

79. Reid, C. E., Brauer, M., Johnston, F. H., Jerrett, M., Balmes, J. R., & Elliott, C. T. (2016). Critical review of health impacts of wildfire smoke exposure. Environmental Health Perspectives, 124(9), 1334–1343.

80. Youssouf, H., Liousse, C., Roblou, L., Assamoi, E. M., Salonen, R. O., Maesano, C., & Annesi-Maesano, I. (2014). Non-accidental health impacts of wildfire smoke. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 11(11), 11772–11804.

81. Haikerwal, A., Reisen, F., Sim, M. R., Abramson, M. J., Meyer, C. P., Johnston, F. H., & Dennekamp, M. (2015). Impact of smoke from prescribed burning: Is it a public health concern? Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association, 65(5), 592–598. <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10962247.2015.1032445</u>

82. Jaffe, D. A., O'Neill, S. M., Larkin, N. K., Holder, A. L., Peterson, D. L., Halofsky, J. E., & Rappold, A. G. (2020). Wildfire and prescribed burning impacts on air quality in the United States. Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association, 70(6), 583–615. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10962247.2020.1749731</u>

83. Dodds, K. J., Aoki, C. F., Arango-Velez, A., Cancelliere, J., D'Amato, A. W., DiGirolomo, M. F., & Rabaglia, R. J. (2018). No Title. Journal of Forestry, 116(2), 178–191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jofore/fvx009</u>

84. Nowak, J. T., Meeker, J. R., Coyle, D. R., Steiner, C. A., & Brownie, C. (2015). Southern pine beetle infestations in relation to forest stand conditions, previous thinning, and prescribed burning: evaluation of the Southern Pine Beetle Prevention Program. Journal of Forestry, 113, 9.

85. Fettig, C., Asaro, C., Nowak, J., Dodds, K., Gandhi, K., Moan, J., & Robert, J. (2022). Trends in Bark Beetle Impacts in North America During a Period (2000–2020) of Rapid Environmental Change. Journal of Forestry, 120(6), 693–713. <u>https://www.fs.usda.gov/research/treesearch/65062</u>

86. Clark, K. L., Aoki, C., Ayres, M., Kabrick, J., & Gallagher, M. R. (2022). Insect infestations and the persistence and functioning of oak-pine mixedwood forests in the mid-Atlantic region, USA. PLos ONE, 17(5), e0265955. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0265955

87. Bottero, A., D'Amato, A. W., Palik, B. J., Bradford, J. B., Fraver, S., Battaglia, M. A., & Asherin, L. A. (2017). Density-dependent vulnerability of forest ecosystems to drought. Journal of Applied Ecology, 54, 1605–1614.

88. Finley, K., & Zhang, J. (2019). Climate Effect on Ponderosa Pine Radial Growth Varies with Tree Density and Shrub Removal. Forests, 10, 1–20.

89. New York City Department of Parks & Recreation. (n.d.). Million Trees NYC. https://www.milliontreesnyc.org/

90. Resources, M. D. of N. (n.d.). Maryland 5 Million Trees Initiative. <u>https://dnr.maryland.gov/forests/Pages/5-million-trees.aspx</u>

91. Delaware Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control. (n.d.). A Tree for Every Delawarean. <u>https://dnrec.alpha.delaware.gov/tedi/</u>

92. Keystone 10 Million Trees Partnership. (n.d.). Ten Millions Trees for Pennsylvania. https://tenmilliontrees.org/

93. Lathrop, R. G., & Hasse, J. E. (2020). Changing landscapes in the Garden State: land use change in New Jersey 1986 through 2015. <u>https://scholarship.libraries.rutgers.edu/esploro/outputs/report/991031550019104646</u>

94. NJDEP. (2022). Green Acres Program. <u>https://dep.nj.gov/greenacres/about-us/#:~:text=Together with with public and, in communities around the state.</u>

95. Butler, B. J., Butler, S. M., Caputo, J., Dias, J., Robillard, A., & Sass, E. M. (2021). Family forest ownerships of the United States, 2018: results from the USDA Forest Service, Natonal Woodland Owner Survey. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2737/NrS-GTR-199</u>

96. N.J.A.C. 7:3 Forestry, 37 (2017). https://www.nj.gov/dep/parksandforests/forest/docs/njac7_3 - 2017-R.pdf

97. N.J.A.C. 18:15 Farmland Assessment Act, 54 (2009). https://www.nj.gov/treasury/taxation/pdf/lpt/regs/reg1815.pdf

98. IPCC. (2022). Climate Change 2022, Mitigation of Climate Change. https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/

99. Friends of Hopewell Valley Open Space. (2020). Invasive Species Strike Team. <u>https://www.fohvos.info/invasive-species-strike-team/faq/</u>

100. NJDEP. (2021). New Jersey Forest Service - Forest Stewardship Program. https://www.nj.gov/dep/parksandforests/forest/privatelands/foreststewardshipprogram.html

101. NJDEP. (2023). Environmental Trends Report - Land Use and Land Cover. <u>https://dep.nj.gov/wp-content/uploads/dsr/trends-land-use.pdf</u>

102. Narayan, S., Beck, M. W., Wilson, P., Thomas, C. J., Guerrero, A., Shepard, C. C., Reguero, B.G., Franco, G., Ingram, J. C., & Trespalacios, D. (2017). The value of coastal wetlands for flood damage reduction in the northeastern USA. Scientific Reports, 7(1), 9463.

103. Salimi, S., Almuktar, S., & Scholz, M. (2021). Impact of climate change on wetland ecosystems: A critical review of experimental wetlands. Journal of Environmental Management, 286. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.112160

104. Rogers, C. E., & McCarty, J. P. (2000). Climate change and ecosystems of the Mid-Atlantic region. Climate Research, 14(3), 235–244.

105. Rutgers University, & NJDEP. (2021). Coastal Ecological Restoration and Adaptation Planning (CERAP) Explorer [Map]. <u>https://njrestors.rutgers.edu/nj-cerap/</u>

106. NJDEP NJ Forest Service. (2020). Atlantic White Cedar Wetland Ecosystem Restoration Strategy. https://www.nj.gov/dep/parksandforests/forest/atlanticwhitecedar/docs/2020-09-25 AWCstrategy-final.pdf

107. USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service. (n.d.). Wetland Reserve Easements. https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/programs-initiatives/wre-wetland-reserve-easements

108. Leemans, R., & De Groot, R. S. (2003). Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: A Framework for Assessment. Island Press.

109. Duarte, C. M., Marbà, N., Gacia, E., Fourqurean, J. W., Barron, C., & Apostolaki, E. T. (2010). Seagrass community metabolism: Assessing the carbon sink capacity of seagrass meadows. Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 24(4).

110. Lathrop, R. G., Styles, R. M., Seitzinger, S. P., & Bognar, J. A. (2001). Use of GIS mapping and modeling approaches to examine the spatial distribution of seagrasses in Barnegat Bay, New Jersey. Estuaries, 24, 904–916.

111. Kennish, M. J., Bricker, S. B., Dennison, W. C., Glibert, P. M., Livingston, R. J., Moore, K. A., Noble, R. A., Paerl, H. W., Ramstack, J. M., Seitzinger, S., & Tomasko, D. (2007). Barnegat Bay–Little Egg Harbor Estuary: case study of a highly eutrophic coastal bay system. Ecological Applications, 17(5), S3–S16.

112. Lathrop, R. G., & Haag, S. M. (2011). Assessment of seagrass status in the Barnegat Bay-Little Egg Harbor Estuary system: 2003 and 2009. <u>https://rucore.libraries.rutgers.edu/rutgers-lib/40264/PDF/1/play/</u>

113. Giesen, W. B. J. T., Van Katwijk, M. M., & Den Hartog, C. (1990). Eelgrass condition and turbidity in the Dutch Wadden Sea. Aquatic Botany, 37(1), 71–85. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/030437709090065S?via%3Dihub

114. Short, F., & Wyllie-Echeverria, S. (1996). Natural and human-induced disturbance of seagrasses. Environmental Conservation, 23(1), 17–27. <u>https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/environmental-conservation/article/abs/natural-and-humaninduced-disturbance-of-seagrasses/7D2BFEDB7A3C5206CAD61A94BAD32853</u>

115. Orth, R. J., Carruthers, T. J., Dennison, W. C., Duarte, C. M., Fourqurean, J. W., Heck, K. L., Hughes, A. R., Kendrick, G.A., Kenworthy, W. J., Olyarnik, S., & Short, F. T. (2006). A global crisis for seagrass ecosystems. BioScience, 56(12), 987–996. <u>https://academic.oup.com/bioscience/article/56/12/987/221654</u>

116. Waycott, M., Duarte, C. M., Carruthers, T. J., Orth, R. J., Dennison, W. C., Olyarnik, S., Calladine, A., Fourqurean, J. W., Heck Jr, K. L., Hughes, A. R., & Kendrick, G. (2009). Accelerating loss of seagrasses across the globe threatens coastal ecosystems. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 106(30), 12377–12381. <u>https://www.pnas.org/doi/full/10.1073/pnas.0905620106</u>

117. Reusch, T. B., Ehlers, A., Hämmerli, A., & Worm, B. (2005). Ecosystem recovery after climatic extremes enhanced by genotypic diversity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 102(8), 2826–2831. <u>https://www.pnas.org/doi/full/10.1073/pnas.0500008102</u>

118. Short, F. T., & Necklaces, H. A. (1990). The effects of global climate change on seagrasses. Aquatic Botany, 63, 169–196.

119. Lefcheck, J. S., Wilcox, D. J., Murphy, R. R., Marion, S. R., & Orth, R. J. (2017). Multiple stressors threaten the imperiled coastal foundation species eelgrass (Zostera marina) in Chesapeake Bay, USA. Global Change Biology, 23(9), 3474–3483.

120. Bologna, P., & Sinnema, M. S. (2012). Restoration of Seagrass Habitat in New Jersey, United States. Journal of Coastal Research, 28(1A), 99–104.

121. USDA National Agricultural Statistics Service. (2023). 2022 State Agriculture Overview New Jersey. https://www.nass.usda.gov/Quick_Stats/Ag_Overview/stateOverview.php?state=NEW_JERSEY

122. University of Arkansas Division of Agriculture Research & Extension. (2020). Economic Impact of Agriculture: New Jersey. <u>https://economic-impact-of-ag.uada.edu/new-jersey/</u>

123. Cornell University Cooperative Extension Tompkins County. (2001). Composting. https://ccetompkins.org/resources/compost-basics-benefits-of-composting

124. Huhe, Jiang, C., Wu, Y., & Cheng, Y. (2017). Bacterial and fungal communities and contribution of physicochemical factors during cattle farm waste composting. Microbiologyopen, 6(6), 6. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/mbo3.518

125. Ho, T. T. K., Le, T. H., Tran, C.-S., Nguyen, P.-T., Thai, V.-N., & Bui, X.-T. (2022). Compost to improve sustainable soil cultivation and crop productivity. Case Studies in Chemical and Environmental Engineering, 6, 100211.

126. State of Washington Department of Ecology. (2015). Soil Organic Carbon Storage (Sequestration) Principles and Management - Potential Role for Recycled Organic Materials in Agricultural Soils of Washington State. https://apps.ecology.wa.gov/publications/documents/1507005.pdf

127. Shrestha, R. K., Jacinthe, P. A., Lal, R., Lorenz, K., Singh, M. P., Demyan, S. M., Ren, W., & Lindsey, L. E. (2023). Biochar as a negative emission technology: A synthesis of field research on greenhouse gas emissions. Journal of Environmental Quality, 52(4), 769–798.

https://acsess.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/jeq2.20475

128. Ontl, T. A., & Schulte, L. A. (2012). Soil carbon storage. Nature Education Knowledge, 3(10), 35. <u>https://www.nature.com/scitable/knowledge/library/soil-carbon-storage-84223790/</u>

129. Yost, J. L. (2019). Soil organic carbon in sandy soils: A review. Advances in Agronomy, 158, 217–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.agron.2019.07.004.

130. Padgitt, M., Newton, D., Penn, R., & Sandretto, C. (2000). Production Practices for Major Crops in U.S. Agriculture, 1990-97. <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/47128/32314_sb969_002.pdf?v=4022.3</u>

131. Blanco-Canqui, H., Shaver, T. M., Lindquist, J. L., Shapiro, C. A., Elmore, R. W., Francis, C. A., & Hergert, G. W. (2015). Cover crops and ecosystem services: Insights from studies in temperate soils. Agronomy Journal, 107(6), 2449–2474. <u>https://acsess.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.2134/agronj15.0086</u>

132. Zhang, Z., Kaye, J. P., Bradley, B. A., Amsili, J. P., & Suseela, V. (2022). Cover crop functional types differentially alter the content and composition of soil organic carbon in particulate and mineral-associated fractions. Global Change Biology, 28(19), 5831–5848. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.16296</u>

133. Demenois, J., Torquebiau, E., Arnoult, M. H., Eglin, T., Masse, D., Habibou Assouma, M., Blanfort, V., Chenu, C., Chapuis-Lardy, L., Medoc, J. M., & Sall, S. N. (2020). Barriers and strategies to boost soil carbon sequestration in agriculture. Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems, 4, 37.

134. Moukanni, N., Brewer, K. M., Gaudin, A. C. M., & O'Geen, A. T. (2022). Optimizing carbon sequestration through cover cropping in Mediterranean agroecosystems: Synthesis of mechanisms and implications for management. Frontiers in Agronomy, 4, 19. <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fagro.2022.844166/full</u>

135. US Department of Agriculture. (2023). Census of Agriculture for New Jersey - 2017 Census by State. https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2017/Full Report/Census by State/New Jersey/index.php

136. Hall, M. H. (1994). Warm-season Grasses. https://extension.psu.edu/warm-season-grasses

137. University of Missouri The Center for Agroforestry. (2021). Training Manual for Applied Agroforestry Practices. https://centerforagroforestry.org/farmers/resources/training-manual-for-applied-agroforestry-practices/

138. Riedman, E., Roman, L. A., & Pearsall, H. (2022). Why don't people plant trees Uncovering barriers to participation in urban tree planting initiatives. Urban Forestry and Urban Greening, 73(3), 10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2022.127597

139. Downey, A. E., Groffman, P. M., Mejia, G. A., Cook, E. M., Sritrairat, S., Karty, R., Palmer, M. I., & McPhearson, T. (2021). Soil carbon sequestration in urban afforestation sites in New York City. Urban Forestry and Urban Greening, 65, 127342.

140. Bean, E., Jarrett, L., Haldeman, B., Kipp Searcy, J., & Jones, P. (2020). Guidance for amending urban soils with organic amendments. <u>https://ffl.ifas.ufl.edu/media/fflifasufledu/docs/guidance_amending_urban_soils.pdf</u>